
Anyone who requires an auxiliary aid or service for effective communication, or a modification of policies or
procedures to participate in a City program, service, or activity, should contact Betty Sheets at 319 286-5041 or

email b.sheets@cedar-rapids.org as soon as possible but no later than 48 hours before the event.

City Planning Commission
101 First Street SE

Cedar Rapids, IA 52401
Telephone: (319) 286-5041

AGENDA
CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING

Thursday, January 12, 2017@ 3:00 PM
City Hall Council Chambers

101 First Street SE, Cedar Rapids, IA 52401

Call Meeting to Order

Roll Call

A. Approval of the Minutes

B. Adoption of the Agenda

C. Action Items

1. Case Name: La Hacienda Stradt Addition (Preliminary Plat)

Consideration of a Major Preliminary Plat in R-3, Single Family Residence Zone District for
property at 1525 Hollywood Boulevard NE as requested by Adam Stradt Property LLC
(Applicant) and Apple Kids CR, LLC (Titleholder)
Case No: PRPT-024128-2016; Case Manager: Dave Houg Canceled by Applicant

2. Case Name: 4420 Center Point Road NE (Conditional Use)

Consideration of a Conditional Use request for a Day Care Center in an R-3, Single Family
Residence Zone District as requested by The Robyns Nest (Applicant) and St. Andrews
Lutheran Church (Titleholder)
Case No: COND-024175-2016; Case Manager: Dave Houg

3. Case Name: 3333 1st Avenue SE (Preliminary Site Development Plan)

Consideration of a Preliminary Site Development Plan in a C-3, Regional Commercial Zone
District as requested by Ross R. and Donna R. Neal (Applicant/Titleholder)
Case No: PSDP-024166-2016; Case Manager: Kirsty Sanchez



Anyone who requires an auxiliary aid or service for effective communication, or a modification of policies or
procedures to participate in a City program, service, or activity, should contact Betty Sheets at 319 286-5041 or

email b.sheets@cedar-rapids.org as soon as possible but no later than 48 hours before the event.

4. Case Name: 5050 18th Avenue SW (Rezoning with a Preliminary Site Development
Plan)

Consideration of a change of zone with a Preliminary Site Development Plan from A,
Agriculture Zone District to I-1, Light Industrial Zone District as requested by Mike Dawson
(Applicant) and Ortman Properties, L.L.C. (Titleholder)
Case No: RZNE-024178-2016; Case Manager: Kirsty Sanchez

5. Consider of a recommendation to City Council for adoption of the Mt. Vernon Road Corridor
Action Plan and its inclusion in EnvisionCR

Adam Lindenlaub, Community Development and Planning



1

City Planning Commission
City of Cedar Rapids

101 First Street SE
Cedar Rapids, IA 52401

Telephone: (319) 286-5041

MINUTES OF SPECIAL
CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING,

Thursday, January 5, 2017 @ 4:00 p.m.

Cedar Rapids City Hall Council Chambers, 101 First Street SE

Members Present: Jim Halverson, Chair
Richard Pankey, Vice Chair
Kim King
Karl Cassell
Lisa Peloquin

Members Absent: Virginia Wilts
Samantha Dahlby
Dominique Blank
Anthony Brown

CD Staff: Seth Gunnerson, Planner
Jeff Hintz, Planner
Betty Sheets, Administrative Assistant

City Council Liaison: Justin Shields

Call Meeting to Order

The meeting was called to order at 4:00 p.m.

Opening statements were presented stating the protocol of the meeting and the purpose of the
City Planning Commission.

Roll Call

Roll call was answered with five (5) Commissioners present.

A. Approval of the Minutes

Commissioner Halverson called for any additions or corrections to the minutes. Commissioner
Halverson stated with no additions or corrections, the December 8, 2016 Minutes stand
approved.



2

B. Adoption of the Agenda

Commissioner Halverson called for any additions or corrections to the agenda. Commissioner
Halverson stated with no additions or corrections, the agenda stands approved.

C. Action Items

1. Consideration of Renewal of the Downtown Cedar Rapids Self-Supporting
Municipal Improvement District (SSMID)
Seth Gunnerson, Community Development Planner

Mr. Gunnerson stated that the state code process for establishing of a SSMID and a notice of
public hearing has been sent to the property owners and that a public hearing cannot be set until
City Council receives a recommendation of the City Planning Commission.  Therefore, because
of that and a 30 day waiting period after the public hearing before City Council can act on the
request, this special meeting is being held so that your recommendation can be passed on to City
Council and then the timeline can be set so that the SSMID can be authorized to collect taxes this
year.  This process is needed to be completed by March 14, 2017.

Mr. Gunnerson gave a quick overview of a SSMID.  It is a self-taxing entity that is proposed by
property owners within a district.  The tax limit is set by petition.  This is unlike Tax Increment
Financing or Urban Renewal which is tax abatement.  This is additional tax that people in the
district choose to pay.  The petition before you is proposing a maximum of $275 per thousand.
The funds can be used for activities described in the petition.  City Council adopts it by creating
an ordinance and the City Council appoints a SSMID Commission that oversees the use of funds
and activities of the district.  The City of Cedar Rapids currently has three SSMID districts: the
Med Quarter, the recently created Czech New Bohemia SSMID and the Downtown SSMID.

Mr. Gunnerson further stated the petition was received December 28, 2016 and represents 45%
of the property owners and 62% of the assessed value within the district.  State law requires that
at least 25% of each of those categories is met in order that the City Council considers the
petition.  We have been made aware that at least 10 additional petitions have been received.  Mr.
Gunnerson showed the proposed boundaries of the petition with one minor modification
removing City property of the Cedar Rapids Fire Station.

Mr. Gunnerson also said that the Downtown SSMID has been operational since 1986 and some
of the proposed activities include Downtown Economic Development Programs,
Communications and Advocacy, Capital Improvements downtown, Enhances Maintenance and
Parking Management.

Mr. Gunnerson further stated that City staff recommends approval to the City Council.  Staff
findings include: Petition meets requirements for consideration, the boundary demonstrates
properties that are related, the proposed activities are appropriate, the Downtown SSMID has
demonstrated broad support and a history of supporting the interests of the District and
establishment of the Downtown SSMID is supported by EnvisionCR as means to reinvest in
business districts and promote unique areas of the City.



3

Commissioner Halverson invited the applicant to come forward.

Casey Prince, 348 Garden Drive SE, Downtown Executive Director stated that he also invited
the Mayor appointed Downtown SSMID Commissioners who were also in attendance.  Mr.
Prince stated that he had been on the job for two months and stated what is overwhelming that he
had sent out the petition three weeks ago and to have more than half supporters and more that
two-thirds of property values in the district supportive, that quickly goes to show that the work of
his predecessors and the work of the commissioners have demonstrated value to downtown
property owners both in the beautification programs, infrastructure improvements over the years
and programs that have come to be because of the support of the Downtown SSMID.

Mr. Prince went on to reference the 10 year look back Report that was shared with the City
Planning Commission.  Mr. Prince said the report was produced to hold the Downtown SSMID
accountable for what Commissioners had set out to do. But also to make sure they were staying
engaged with downtown owners.

Commissioner Cassell asked what would be the reason for the owners not signing the petition.
Mr. Prince stated that someone would have to feel they are not engaged or not benefiting.  Mr.
Prince welcomes constructive feedback from anyone and stated that the next ten years will look
different than the last ten years.  Mr. Prince would like to know what could be done better.

Following discussion, Commissioner Halverson called for a motion. Commissioner King made a
motion to approve the Renewal of the Downtown Cedar Rapids Self-Supporting Municipal
Improvement District (SSMID). Commissioner Cassell seconded the motion.

No further discussion was held; Commissioner Halverson called for a vote on the motion.

Voting:  Adopted, 5 Ayes, Commissioners Halverson, Pankey, King, Cassell, and Peloquin
0 Nays

The meeting was adjourned at 4:17 pm

Respectfully Submitted,

Betty Sheets, Administrative Assistant
Community Development and Planning Department



1

Development Service Department
City Services Center
500 15th Avenue SW

Cedar Rapids, IA 52404
Telephone:  (319) 286-5168

STAFF REPORT TO CITY PLANNING COMMISSION
Major Preliminary Plat

CPC Date: January 12, 2017

To: City Planning Commission
From: Development Services Department

Applicant: Adam Stradt Property LLC
Titleholder: Apple Kids CR, LLC

Plat Name: La Hacienda Stradt Addition
Location: 1525 Hollywood Boulevard NE
Request: Consideration of a Major Preliminary Plat in an R-3, Single Family

Residence Zone District

Case Manager: David Houg, Plats & Zoning Conditions Coordinator
Case Number: PRPT-024128-2016

BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
The applicant is requesting approval of a Major Preliminary Plat for land located at 1525
Hollywood Boulevard NE. The property is zoned R-3, Single Family Residence Zone District.
The proposal is to subdivide the property into 5 lots for the future development of 4 additional
single-family homes fronting Lawrence Street NE. Conditional Use approval for the conversion
of the existing church to a day care center was recently approved. This business occupies the 5th

lot.

The Preliminary Plat as submitted includes the following:

 Total site area is approximately 2.6 acres
 Total lots:
 4 single-family home lots
 1 lot for commercial day care use

 Density of the single family lots will be 5 dwelling units per acre.

FINDINGS:

The City Planning Commission shall review the application based on the following criteria:

1. That the proposed use and development will be consistent with the intent and
purposes of the Comprehensive Plan and other applicable codes and regulations.



2

Staff Comments: The proposed use and development are consistent with the intent and
purposes of the Comprehensive Plan.  The development area is shown as “Urban Medium
Intensity” on the Future Land Use Map in the City’s Comprehensive Plan. The
designation allows a range of 4 to 24 dwelling units per acre.  The proposed development
would have a density of 5 units per acre, which is in accordance with the goals and
objectives of the “Urban Medium Intensity” land use.

RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS:

If the City Planning Commission recommends approval of the proposed major preliminary plat,
adoption of the following conditions as recommended by Development Services should be
considered.  The City Planning Commission may approve with additional conditions.

1. Prior to final plat approval by City Council, the property owner shall submit to the City
for review and approval improvement plans for design and installation of proposed
concrete sidewalk improvements along Lawrence Street NE and Arizona Court NE
adjoining this site. The plans shall include grading plans and other information pertinent
to the design for sidewalks.

2. Prior to the issuance of a Final Certificate of Occupancy, the property owner shall be
responsible to complete the following:

A. Construction of concrete sidewalk along Lawrence Street NE and Arizona Court
NE adjoining this site. The property owner shall construct the sidewalk
improvements in accordance with City Standards, City policy, ADA requirements,
and improvement plans accepted by the City. The property owner may request
deferral of the sidewalk installation requirement if in accordance with the sidewalk
installation policy. If a deferral is requested, the property owner’s engineer shall
submit a formal request with documentation verifying deferral eligibility (cross
sections, drawings, etc.).

Section 31.06 (h) of the City Subdivision Ordinance requires that if sidewalks are
not constructed within the final platted area within five years of the final plat
recordation, the City may include construction of the remaining sidewalks in a
public contract prior to construction of structures on the platted lots. The cost of
the construction shall be assessed to the adjoining property owners.

B. Removal and replacement of City sidewalk along Hollywood Boulevard NE
adjoining this site, damaged as a result of construction activities on this site or not
meeting current City standards and ADA requirements. Said removal and
replacement areas shall be determined by the City, shall be completed by the
property owner, and approved by the City.



SS
SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

W

M

WMWMWMWM
WMWM

W
M

W
M

W
M

W
M

W
M

W
M

W
M

W
M

W
M

W
M

WM
WM WM

WM
WM

WM
WM

WM

W
M

W

M

W

M

W

M

W
M

X

X

X

X

121

82

119

120

83

KEN ACRES

5TH

PLAT OF

#564

SUR

PARCEL A

HICKORY

HICKORY WOODS

WOODS

S

6

PT

LOT B

21

PT

LOT B

5

4

2

3

1

60'

28'

30'

60'

33' B-B

28' B-B 60'

SHED

EX.

EXISTING 4' SIDEWALKEXISTING 6' SIDEWALK

E

X

I

S

T

I

N

G

 

4

'

 

S

I

D

E

W

A

L

K

ARIZONA CT NE

(LOCAL, 25 MPH, P.C. CONCRETE) 

L
A

W
R

E
N

C
E

 
S

T
 
N

E

(
L
O

C
A

L
,
 
2
5
 
M

P
H

,
 
P

.
C

.
 
C

O
N

C
R

E
T

E
)
 

HOLLYWOOD BLVD NE

(LOCAL, 25 MPH, P.C. CONCRETE) 

4" WATER SERVICE 

DUMPSTER ENCLOSURE 

FENCED IN
 PLAYGROUND 

RETAINING WALL

LIGHT

LIGHT

LIGHT

HVAC

HVAC

HVAC

HVAC

RAILROAD TIE PLANTER

RAILROAD TIE PLANTER

E
X

I
S

T
I
N

G
 
P

.
C

.
 
C

O
N

C
R

E
T

E
 
D

R
I
V

E

E

X

I

S

T

I

N

G

 

P

.

C

.

 

C

O

N

C

R

E

T

E

 

D

R

I

V

E

E

X

I

S

T

I

N

G

 

P

.

C

.

 

C

O

N

C

R

E

T

E

 

S

I

D

E

W

A

L

K

H

O

L

L

Y

W

O

O

D

 

B

L

V

D

 

N

E

SIGN

K

E
X

I
S

T
I
N

G
 
P

.
C

.
 
C

O
N

C
R

E
T

E
 
L

O
T

E
X

I
S

T
I
N

G
 
P

.
C

.
 
C

O
N

C
R

E
T

E
 
L

O
T

9

5

11

FH

FH

SIDEWALK

RAMP

S
I
D

E
W

A
L
K

EXISTING 10" WATER MAIN

EXISTING 8" SANITARY SEWER

EXISTING 6" WATER MAIN

E
X

I
S

T
I
N

G
 
6
"
 
W

A
T

E
R

 
M

A
I
N

E
X

I
S

T
I
N

G
 
8
"
 
S

A
N

I
T

A
R

Y
 
S

E
W

E
R

EXISTING STORM SEWER

E
X

I
S

T
I
N

G
 
S

T
O

R
M

 
S

E
W

E
R

X

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
6
'
 
P

R
I
V

A
C

Y
 
F

E
N

C
E

 

10' UTILITY EASEMENT

Parcel Number:  14091-77001-00000

2
1
9
'

4

2

'

L

=

6

8

.
6

'

L

=

5

1

.

8

'

1

0

7

'

ELMCREST 1ST

PROPOSED 4' SIDEWALK

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
4
'
 
S

I
D

E
W

A
L
K

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
4
'
 
S

I
D

E
W

A
L
K

P

R

O

P

O

S

E

D

 

4

'

 

S

I

D

E

W

A

L

K

EXISTING 6' SIDEWALK

P

R

O

P

O

S

E

D

 

D

E

T

E

N

T

I

O

N

 

B

A

S

I

N

(APPROX. 1"=300')

TITLE HOLDER :

APPLE KIDS CR, LLC

1525 HOLLYWOOD BLVD NE

CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA 52402

C/O ADAM STRADT

SKOGMAN REALTY

1110 DINA COURT

HIAWATHA, IOWA 542233

319-364-3104

SURVEYOR:

BRAIN ENGINEERING, INC.

1540 MIDLAND COURT NE

CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA 52402

319-294-9424

MIKE BRAIN, PE LS

MIKEB@BRAIN-ENG.COM

PRELIMINARY PLAT

LA HACIENDA STRADT ADDITION TO THE CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS,

LINN COUNTY, IOWA

SCM

()

POB

4"x 4" CONCRETE POST w/DISK

RECORDED AS

POINT OF BEGINNING

SET 1/2" REBAR W/YPC #9647

FOUND 5/8" REBAR  W/ YPC #8165

FOUND SECTION CORNER

SET SECTION CORNER

SET CHISELLED X

FOUND CHISELLED X

UTILITY EASEMENT
UE

UDE
UTILITY & DRAINAGE EASEMENT

YELLOW PLASTIC CAP
YPC

PRELIMINARY PLAT

SMB 8/30/16

345

1"=50'

5
0

8
3

1
6

-
2

0

Checked:

Reviewed:

Scale:

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
 
N

o
.

Title:

DateRevisionNo.

NOTES: 1.  ALL MEASUREMENTS IN FEET AND DECIMALS THEREOF.

OR AS LABELED

0 25 50 100

This plan is a conceptual representation of the proposed development. Any final plat and

related improvements required by this development shall meet the requirements of the

 Design Standards Manual (as adopted by the City of Cedar Rapids).

2. IT IS PROHIBITED TO PLACE ABOVE-GROUND UTILITY STRUCTURES WHERE UTILITY

EASEMENTS CROSS SEWER, WATER, DRAINAGE, OR ACCESS EASEMENTS OR IN CORNER

VISUAL CLEARANCE AREAS.

3. STORM WATER DETENTION BASIN WILL BE DESIGNED TO CEDAR RAPIDS METRO

STANDARDS.

4. SIDEWALKS WILL BE PLACED ALONG LAWRENCE STREET NE AND ARIZONA COURT NE.

5. ALL TREES 5" DIAMETER AT BREAST HEIGHT REMOVED WILL BE MITIGATED PER

SUBSECTION 32.05.A.3.b OF CEDAR RAPIDS ZONING ORDINANCE.  TREE SPECIES AND SIZE

WILL BE SHOWN AFTER SITE SURVEY FOR DESIGN.  TREE REMOVAL WILL BE DETERMINED

DURING SITE DESIGN.

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

ZONING IS R-3.

K:\Shared Company\Proj\508316-20\PLATTING\508316-20 La Hacienda Stradt Addition.dwg, 12/28/2016 10:55:38 AM, DWG To PDF.pc3

3708

3702

3632

3626

15
25



1

Development Services Department
City Services Center
500 15th Avenue SW

Cedar Rapids, IA 52404
Telephone:  (319) 286-5168

STAFF REPORT TO CITY PLANNING COMMISSION
Conditional Use

CPC Date: January 12, 2017

To: City Planning Commission
From: Development Services Department

Applicant: The Robyn’s Nest
Titleholder: St. Andrews Lutheran Church

Location: 4420 Center Point Road NE
Request: Conditional Use approval for a Day Care Center in an R-3, Single Family

Residence Zone District

Case Manager: Dave Houg, Plat & Zoning Conditions Coordinator
Case Number: COND-024175-2016

BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
The property consists of a single parcel containing a church. The applicant is requesting approval
of a conditional use to allow a Day Care Center to operate from the building. The addition of an
outdoor playground is the only proposed site change.

The developed site includes the following:

 Site area – 2.8 acres
 Total building size – 12,210 s.f.
 Portion proposed for Day Care – 1,725 s.f.
 Parking required – 71 spaces
 Parking provided – 80 spaces

FINDINGS:

Section 32.02.030.D. of the Zoning Ordinance requires the City Planning Commission to review
the application based on the following criteria:

1. That the Conditional Use applied for is permitted in the district within which the
property is located.

Staff Comments: A Day Care Center is permitted as a conditional use within an R-3, Single
Family Residence zone district.



2

2. That the proposed use and development will be consistent with the intent and purpose
of this Ordinance and with the Future Land Use Policy Plan and other elements of the
Comprehensive Plan.

Staff Comments: The Future Land Use Map of the City’s Comprehensive Plan designates
the property and surrounding area as Urban Medium Intensity. The use proposed is allowed
within this Typology Area (LUTA).

3. That the proposed use and development will not have a substantial adverse effect upon
adjacent property, and the character of the neighborhood, traffic conditions, parking,
utility and service facilities, and other factors affecting the public health, safety, and
welfare.

Staff Comments: The daycare will be operated within an existing structure (church) located
on a Major Arterial street. Substantial adverse effects from the conditional use are not
expected for the adjacent neighborhood.

4. That the proposed development or use will be located, designed, constructed and
operated in such a manner that it will be compatible with the immediate neighborhood
and will not interfere with the orderly use, development and improvement of
surrounding property.

Staff Comments: The property has historically been used for non-residential purposes.  With
maintenance of the existing character of the structure, the property should remain
compatible with the immediate neighborhood.

5. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to assure adequate access designed
to minimize traffic congestion and to assure adequate service by essential public
services and facilities including utilities, storm water drainage, and similar facilities.

Staff Comments: The property should continue to be served adequately by the facilities and
services present.

6. That the proposed building, development, or use will comply with any additional
standards imposed on it by provisions of this Ordinance for the district in which the
property is located.

Staff Comments: The applicant has agreed to the additional condition listed below.

7. Whether, and to what extent, all reasonable steps possible have been, or will be, taken
to minimize any potential adverse effects on the surrounding property through
building design, site design, landscaping, and screening.

Staff Comments: As mentioned, the property has historically been used for non-residential
purposes. The proposed use should not adversely affect surrounding properties.



3

RECOMMENDED CONDITION:

If the City Planning Commission recommends approval of the proposed conditional use,
adoption of the following condition as recommended by Development Services should be
considered.  The City Planning Commission may approve with additional conditions or remove
the recommended condition (Chapter 32.02.020.I).

1. Necessary inspections must be conducted and a Certificate of Occupancy issued prior to
occupancy of the building.



46TH ST NE46TH ST NE

I380 OFF RAMP

I380 OFF RAMP

4433RRDD SSTT NNEE

CENTER POINT RD NE

CENTER POINT RD NE

VA
RD

Y R
D N

E
VA

RD
Y R

D N
E

CCZZEECCHH LLNN NNEE

OZ
AR

K 
ST

 N
E

OZ
AR

K 
ST

 N
E

WA
LK

ER
 ST

 N
E

WA
LK

ER
 ST

 N
E

4 4 2 0  C e n t e r  Po i n t  R d  N E4 4 2 0  C e n t e r  Po i n t  R d  N E
Pa r c e l s  w i t h i n  3 0 0 '  Pa r c e l s  w i t h i n  3 0 0 '  

DISCLAIMER:  This is a product of the City of Cedar Rapids
GIS Division.  The data depicted here has been developed
by the City for city purposes.  Any use is at the sole risk
and responsibility of the User.  There are no warranties,
expressed or implied, associated with the use of this map.
ORTHOIMAGERY DATE:  Fall 2014

City of Cedar Rapids
IT Department GIS Division
500 15th Ave SW
Cedar Rapids, IA 52404
Date: 12/13/2016

F1:2,000



375.4 FT

535.6 FT

2
9
1
.5

5
 F

T

8
2
.2

6
 F

T

1
1

0
.0

4
 F

T

8
8

.2
 F

T

C
E

N
T

E
R

 P
O

IN
T
 R

D
 N

E

W
A

L
K

E
R

 S
T

 N
E

R3

C2

C3

R3

C2

OS

OS

R3

600 FT BOUNDARY

600 FT BOUNDARY

6
0
0
 F

T
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

6
0
0
 F

T
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

V
A

R
D

Y
 S

T
 N

E

46TH ST NE

C
Z
E

C
H

 L
N

 N
E

43TH ST NE

O
Z

A
R

K
 S

T
 N

E

47TH ST NE

OS

C2

C3

OS

R3

ZONING BOUNDARIES

PROPERTY LINE

SETBACK

TOTAL LOT AREA 121,968 SQ FT
2.8 ACRES

EXISTING PAVED SURFACE 49,716 SQ FT
EXISTING STRUCTURE 12,210 SQ FT
TOTAL (LOT COVERED BY
STRUCTURE AND  SURFACING) 61,926 SQ FT (51%)

EXISTING STRUCTURE PERMITTED USE - RELIGIOUS
ZONING - R3

PROPOSED CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT FOR DAY CARE
CENTER. APPROXIMATELY 1,725 SQ FT OF EXISTING
STRUCTURE TO BE OCCUPIED BY DAY CARE CENTER

ScaleDate

Client Name

Project Name

N

As indicated

1
2
/1

3
/2

0
1
6
 1

1
:4

4
:1

0
 A

M

A100

Area Plan
Robyn Cave

The Robyn's Nest

12-14-2016
 1" = 160'-0"

1
Area Plan



375.4 FT

535.6 FT

2
9
1
.5

5
 F

T

8
2
.2

6
 F

T

1
1
0
.0

4
 F

T

8
8
.2

 F
T

30 FT SIDE YARD SETBACK

30 FT SIDE YARD SETBACK

3
0
 F

T
 R

E
A

R
 Y

A
R

D
 S

E
T

B
A

C
K

3
0
 F

T
 F

R
O

N
T
 Y

A
R

D
 S

E
T

B
A

C
K

C
E

N
T

E
R

 P
O

IN
T

 R
D

 N
E

W
A

L
K

E
R

 S
T

 N
E

790 792 794

796

798

798

796 794 792

790

EXISTING SIGNAGE
FOR ST ANDREW'S

PROPOSED LOCATION
OF EXTERIOR WALL
MOUNTED SIGNAGE FOR
THE DAY CARE CENTER

V
A

R
D

Y
S

T
 N

E

2
5
M

P
H

3
5
M

P
H

EXISTING SIDEWALK

PROPOSED LOCATION
OF NEW FENCED IN
PLAYGROUND WITH

EQUIPMENT

378 SF
Nursery

123 SF
Boiler Rm

107 SF
Office

1488 SF
Bethsaida Hall

652 SF
Youth Room

1020 SF
Corridor

446 SF
Chancel

116 SF
Storage

423 SF
Sunday School

135 SF
Pastor's Office

180 SF
Office

426 SF
Workroom

400 SF
1 Music

256 SF
Office

242 SF
Sacristy

3046 SF
Sanctuary

272 SF
Kitchen

47 SF
Mech.

353 SF
Library

725 SF
Playground

TRANSFORMER

(NO ADDITIONS TO THE EXISTING STRUCTION OR NEW PAVED
SURFACES ARE BEING PROPOSED AS PART OF THIS
SUBMITTAL. THE DAY CARE CENTER WILL OCCUPY ROOMS OF
THE EXISTING BUILDING TO OPERATE THEIR BUSINESS M-F
7:00AM - 5:30 PM.) APPROXIMATELY 1,725 SQ FT ARE BEING
ALLOCATED FOR THE DAY CARE.

OFF STREET PARKING:
EXISTING PARKING SPACES 76
EXISTING HANDICAPPED SPACES 4
TOTAL EXISTING PARKING SPACES 80

REQUIRE PARKING SPACES FOR WORSHIP 67
REQUIRED PARKING SPACES FOR DAY CARE CENTER 4
TOTAL PRAKING REQUIRED SPACES 71

STORM WATER MANAGEMENT:
THE ADDITION OF THE PLAYGROUND IS NOT
ANTICIPATED TO EFFECT THE CURRENT STORM
WATER MANAGEMENT METHODS. THE
PLAYGROUND WILL NOT HAVE A PAVED SURFACE
BUT A POROUS WOOD CHIP SURFACE.

PROPERTY AND EXISTING STRUCTURE ARE NOT WITHIN A
FLOODPLAIN

EXISTING STRUCTURE:
SINGLE STORY
BUILDING HEIGHT 9'-8"

22'-0" (AT SANCTUARY)
BUILDING 12,210 SQ FTROOMS PROPOSED TO BE USED BY

THE DAY CARE CENTER
ScaleDate

Client Name

Project Name

N

As indicated

1
2
/1

3
/2

0
1
6
 1

1
:4

4
:1

0
 A

M

A101

Site Plan
Robyn Cave

The Robyn's Nest

12-14-2016

 1" = 40'-0"
1

Site Plan

H H H H





1

Development Services Department
City Services Center
500 15th Avenue SW

Cedar Rapids, IA 52404
(319) 286-5168

STAFF REPORT TO CITY PLANNING COMMISSION
Preliminary Site Development Plan

CPC Date: January 12, 2017

To: City Planning Commission
From: Development Services Department

Applicant: Ross R. and Donna R. Neal
Titleholder: Ross R. and Donna R. Neal

Location: 3333 1st Avenue SE
Request: Consideration of a of a Preliminary Site Development Plan in a C-3, Regional

Commercial Zone District

Case Manager: Kirsty Sanchez, Development Services Project Planner
Case Number: PSDP-024166-2016

BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
The applicant is requesting Preliminary Site Development Plan approval for the property located
at 3333 1st Avenue SE. The proposal is to construct a 1,536 sq. ft. single-story addition to the
rear of the existing 1,344 sq. ft. building. The property is zoned C-3, Regional Commercial Zone
District.

The proposed use and development plan are consistent with the intent and purposes of
EnvisionCR, the Comprehensive Plan. The proposed development area is shown as “Urban –
High Intensity” on the Future Land Use Map in the Comprehensive Plan.

The proposed development plan as submitted includes the following:

 Total site area is 24,637 sq. ft.
 Total proposed building floor area is 2,880 sq. ft.
 Total building stories - 1
 Parking required – 4 stalls per 1,000 sq. ft. GFA
 Parking provided – 12 spaces

FINDINGS:
Section 32.02.030.G.7 of the Zoning Ordinance requires the City Planning Commission to
review the application based on the following criteria:

1. The Site Development Plan is consistent with the previously approved Preliminary
Plans for the property (if applicable)



2

Staff comments: This proposed site layout is consistent with the previously approved site
plan for this site. The approved site plan shows a 1,512 sq. ft. addition to the existing
building in approximately the same location as is proposed.

2. The Site Development Plan conforms to all applicable requirements of this Ordinance.

Staff comments: The site development plan conforms to all applicable requirements of the
City’s Zoning Ordinance.

RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS:

If the City Planning Commission recommends approval of the proposed preliminary site
development plan, adoption of the following conditions as recommended by Development
Services should be considered.  The City Planning Commission may approve with additional
conditions or remove any of the recommended conditions.

1. Said lots must be combined as a single zoning lot and tax parcel.
2. Parking on the access to 1st Avenue will not be permitted.
3. PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF A FINAL CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY, the

property owner shall be responsible for removal and replacement of City sidewalk
adjoining this site, damaged as a result of construction activities on this site or not
meeting ADA standards. Said removal and replacement areas shall be determined by the
City Public Works Department, shall be completed by the property owner, and approved
by the City.

4. PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF A FINAL CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY, the
property owner shall be responsible to remove unused driveways and restore the right of
way and curb.



SITE  LOCATION  MAP

CONTACT PERSON



1

Development Services Department
City Services Center
500 15th Avenue SW

Cedar Rapids, IA 52404
Telephone:  (319) 286-5132

STAFF REPORT TO CITY PLANNING COMMISSION
Rezoning with a Preliminary Site Development Plan

CPC Date: January 12, 2017

To: City Planning Commission
From: Development Services Department

Applicant: Mike Dawson
Titleholder: Ortman Properties, LLC

Location: 5050 18th Avenue SW
Request: Consideration of a change of zone from A, Agriculture District to I-1, Light

Industrial Zone District with a Preliminary Site Development Plan

Case Manager: Kirsty Sanchez, Development Services Project Planner
Case Number: RZNE-024178-2016

BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
This is a request to rezone an 87,825 sq. ft. parcel from A, Agriculture Zone District to I-1, Light
Industrial Zone District with a Preliminary Site Development Plan to allow for the construction
of two buildings to be used as contractor shops. The property is identified as “Urban-High
Intensity” on the City’s Future Land Use Map in EnvisionCR, the City’s Comprehensive Plan.
As such, the proposed use and density are suitable for the site.

The Preliminary Site Development Plan as submitted includes the following:
 Total lot size – 87,825 sq. ft.
 Gross floor area – 16,800 sq. ft.
 Total parking – 25 spaces provided

FINDINGS:
Section 32.02.030.C.5.e of the Zoning Ordinance requires the City Planning Commission to
review the application based on the following criteria:

1. Whether the amendment is required to correct a technical mistake in the existing
zoning regulations.

Staff Comments: This amendment is not to correct a technical mistake on the existing
Zoning Map.



2

2. Whether the amendment is consistent with the Future Land Use Policy Plan and other
elements of the Comprehensive Plan.

Staff Comments: The subject property is shown as “Urban-High Intensity” on the Future
Land Use Map (FLUM) in EnvisionCR, the City’s Comprehensive Plan. The requested zone
change is in accord with the FLUM and the Goals and Objectives of EnvisionCR.

a) FORM/USE/INTENSITY CHARACTERISTICS:
i. Residential densities from 8 to 40 units/acre are allowed.

Staff Comments: Not applicable.

ii. Non-residential or mixed use FAR is maxed at 3.0.
Staff Comments: The FAR is 0.19.

iii. Shared parking is encouraged to reduce land used as parking areas.
Staff Comments: Parking is not being shared.

iv. Should generally have good access to freeways, highways arterials &
transit, while still being designed around pedestrians.
Staff Comments: Sidewalk will be provided along 18th Avenue SW and
pedestrian access is provided from the building to the public sidewalk.
Vehicular access to the site is provided via 18th Avenue SW.

v. A high-connectivity grid pattern should be used to expand viable
locations for higher intensity land uses, resulting in greater integration of
land uses.
Staff Comments: Not applicable.

b) COMPATIBILITY CHARACTERISTICS:
i. Different land uses can be close together because high levels of service,

design, and amenities take into account these juxtapositions and make
appropriate accommodations.
Staff Comments: The immediate neighborhood features church, self-storage
facilities, a truck training academy, commercial and institutional foodservice
equipment and supplies retailer, automotive repair, contractor’s shops and an
outdoor advertising company.

ii. Form and design rule and performance regulations address aesthetic and
functional compatibility.
Staff Comments: Form and design will be reviewed at the time of an
Administrative Site Development Plan submittal.

iii. Industrial uses may be allowed with requirements that they mitigate any
anticipated negative impacts on adjacent land uses and that they are
located on arterial streets or rail lines.
Staff Comments: 18th Avenue SW is a collector street, however contractor
shops are allowed within the C-3 and C-4 Zone Districts through Conditional
Use Permits.



3

iv. Land uses should be fully integrated horizontally and mixed vertically,
resulting in complementary and alternating times of use and the ability to
share parking areas.
Staff Comments: Not applicable to this proposal as various land uses will not
be integrated within this development.

v. Higher levels of urban amenities are necessary to offset the area's
intensity level and enhance livability.
Staff Comments: Sidewalk and street front landscaping will be provided.

3. Whether the amendment is consistent with the characteristics of the surrounding area,
including any changing conditions.

Staff Comments: The amendment is consistent with the conditions of the surrounding area
and the Future Land Use Map (FLUM).

4. Whether the property is suitable for all of the uses permitted in the proposed district.

Staff Comments: The location is suitable for all uses permitted in the I-1, Light Industrial
Zone District.

5. Whether the proposed amendment will protect existing neighborhoods from nearby
development at heights and densities that are out of scale with the existing
neighborhood.

Staff Comments: The surrounding neighborhood is zoned C-3, Regional Commercial Zone
District and I-1, Light Industrial Zone District. The proposed development is in scale with the
existing neighborhood.

6. Whether facilities and services (including sewage and waste disposal, water, gas,
electricity, police and fire protection, and roads and transportation, as applicable) will
be available to serve the subject property while maintaining adequate levels of service
to existing development.

Staff Comments: Facilities and services are already in place.  Adequate levels of services to
the existing development will not be affected.

RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS:

If the City Planning Commission recommends approval of the proposed rezoning use, adoption
of the following conditions as recommended by City Departments should be considered.  The
City Planning Commission may approve with additional conditions.

1. All storage shall be within completely enclosed buildings or effectively screened by a
solid wall or fence, including solid entrance and exit gates, not less than 6 nor more than
8 feet in height or a variance must be obtained.

2. All parking, drives and storage areas shall be surfaced per provisions of the Zoning
Ordinance.  Surfacing to include asphalt, concrete, brick or asphaltic macadam.

3. Any construction over 200’ requires FAA Determination of No Hazard to Air
Navigation.



WM

WM

WM

WM

WM

WM

WM

WM

WM

WM

WM

WM

WM

WM

WM

WM

WM

WM

WM

140.0'

60.0'

25' FRONT YARD SETBACK

25' REAR YARD SETBACK

1
5

'
 
S

I
D

E
 
Y

A
R

D
 
S

E
T

B
A

C
K

1
5

'
 
S

I
D

E
 
Y

A
R

D
 
S

E
T

B
A

C
K

140.0'

60.0'

F
E

N
C

E

F
E

N
C

E

OUTDOOR STORAGEOUTDOOR STORAGE

LOCAL 25 MPH EXISTING P.C. CONCRETE

379.32'

2
3

2
.
2

4
'

2
3

0
.
6

1
'

F
E

N
C

E

F
E

N
C

E

FENCE

FENCE

10' UTILITY EASEMENT

10' UTILITY EASEMENT

25'R

25'R

25'R

25'R

PROPOSED 5' SIDEWALK

EXISTING SIDEWALK

6
0
'
R

O
W

6
0
'
R

O
W

8.0'

8.0'

19.0'

24.0'

24.0'

19.0'

8.0'

8.0'

9.0'

19.0'

24.0'

24.0'

24.0'

44.0'

38.7'

83.1'

83.1'

16.7'

OUTDOOR STORAGE

OUTDOOR STORAGE

33'

30'

ZONED I-1

PROPOSED BUILDING

8,400 SQ. FT.

PROPOSED BUILDING

8,400 SQ. FT.

W
M

W
M

W
M

W
M

W
M

W
M

W
M

W
M

W
M

W
M

PROPOSED 5' SIDEWALK

PROPOSED 5' SIDEWALK

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
5

'
 
S

I
D

E
W

A
L

K

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
5

'
 
S

I
D

E
W

A
L

K

8

6

0

8

6

0

8

5

8

8

5

8

8

5

8

8

5

6

8

5

6

8

5

6

8

5

4

8

5

4

8

5

2

8

5

2

PROPOSED 

DUMPSTER

ENCLOSURE 

PROPOSED 

DUMPSTER

ENCLOSURE 

9.0'

BITUMINOUS BOUND MACADAM

P.C. CONCRETE PAVING P.C. CONCRETE PAVING

P.C. CONCRETE PAVING

P.C. CONCRETE PAVING

P.C. CONCRETE PAVING

P.C. CONCRETE PAVING

PROPOSED

STORM WATER

MANAGEMENT BASIN

10' UTILITY EASEMENT

1
0

'
 
U

T
I
L

I
T

Y
 
E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T
 
A

N
D

 
D

R
A

I
N

A
G

E
 
E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T

1
0

'
 
U

T
I
L

I
T

Y
 
E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T
 
A

N
D

 
D

R
A

I
N

A
G

E
 
E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T

BITUMINOUS BOUND MACADAM

BITUMINOUS BOUND MACADAM

D
a
t
e

R
e
v
i
s
i
o
n

N
o
.

of

1
.

2
.

3
.

D
F

B
1
2

/
1
3

/
1

6

3
4

3

1
"
 
=

 
2

0
'

1

1

516716-10

(APPROX. 1"=300')

APPLICANT:

SURVEYOR:

BRAIN ENGINEERING, INC.

1540 MIDLAND COURT NE

CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA 52402

319-294-9424

MIKE DAWSON

417 WILEY BLVD. NW

CEDAR RAPIDS, IA 52405

319-721-4234

MIKE@SELKDAWSON

LOCATION: VACANT LOT NORTH OF 18TH AVENUE NW

REQUEST: REZONING AND CONDITIONAL USE

USE: CONTRACTOR SHOP

TOTAL SITE AREA: 87,825 SQ. FT. = 2.02 ACRES

EXISTING ZONING: A, AGRICULTURE

PROPOSED ZONING: I-1, INDUSTRIAL

TOTAL SQ. FT. OF STRUCTURES:

  EXISTING:   0 FEET = 0%

  PROPOSED:  16,800 FEET = 19.1%

HARD SURFACE AREA OF LOT (INCLUDES BUILDING):

  EXISTING:  0 SQ. FEET = 0%

  PROPOSED:  72,537 SQ. FEET = 82.6%

OPEN AREA OF LOT:

  EXISTING: 87,825 SQ. FEET = 100%

  PROPOSED: 15,288 SQ. FT = 17.4%

SETBACKS: I-1

FRONT YARD:       25 FEET

INTERIOR SIDE YARD: 15 FEET

REAR YARD:         25 FEET

CORNER SIDE YARD:   25 FEET

PARKING:

CONTRACTOR SHOP 2 PER EMPLOYEE

2 SPACE PER EMPLOYEE * 12 EMPLOYEES = 24 PARKING SPACES

PARKING PROVIDED:  25 SPACES INCLUDING 2 HANDICAP ACCESSIBLE

 NOTES:

1. REGULAR PARKING SPACES ARE 9'x19'.

2. ALL MEASUREMENTS IN FEET AND DECIMALS THEREOF.

3. ALL HARD SURFACING IN FRONT OF THE PROPOSED BUILDINGS WILL BE P.C. CONCRETE PAVEMENT.

4. LANDSCAPING AND SCREENING WILL BE PROVIDED PER SUBSECTION 32.05.030.A.

5.  ALL LIGHT FIXTURES WILL SHIED DIRECT LIGHT FROM PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY AND NEIGHBORING

PROPERTIES.

6. THE SITE IS NOT LOCATED IN A 100-YEAR FLOOD WAY OR FLOOD ZONE.

7. DETENTION BASIN WILL BE LOCATED IN THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THE SITE.

8. THE DETENTION POND WILL BE DESIGNED TO CEDAR RAPIDS METRO STANDARDS.

9. ALL HANDICAP SPACES ARE 8'X19'.  NON-HANDICAPED SPACES WILL BE 9'X19'.

10. PARKING AREAS WILL BE SCREENED BY VEGETATION.

11. OUTDOOR STORAGE TO BE SCREEN BY 8' PRIVACY FENCE.

12. ROOF TOP MECHANICALS WILL BE SCREENED TO NOT BE SEEN FROM THE STREET.

13. ENCLOSURES AND SCREENING WILL BE PROVIDED PER SUBSECTION 32.05.030.A.7 OF THE ZONING ORDINANCE.

14. STORM WATER MANAGEMENT BASIN WILL BE DESIGNED PER CEDAR RAPIDS METRO STANDARDS.

TITLE HOLDER :

ORTMAN PROPERTIES, L.L.C.

4753 MCVAY ROAD

PALO, IA 52324

DOUGLAS

F.

BRAIN

20267

L

I

C

E
N

S

E

D

P

R

O

F

E

S
S

I

O

N

A

L

E

N

G

I
N

E

E

R

A
W

O

I

My License Renewal Date Is December 31, 2018

Pages or sheets covered by this seal:

License Number 20267

supervision and that I am a duly licensed Professional

was performed by me or under my direct personal

Engineer under the laws of the State of Iowa.

I hereby certify that this engineering document

Douglas F. Brain,  P.E.   

Signed                           Date

ENGINEER

BRAIN ENGINEERING, INC.

1540 MIDLAND COURT NE

CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA 52402

319-294-9424

DOUG BRAIN

DOUGB@BRAIN-ENG.COM

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

LOT 6, SUBURBAN ADDITION TO LINN COUNTY, IOWA.

SHADE TREE

MIN. SIZE

#3

ID

LANDSCAPE SCHEDULE

DESCRIPTION

IVORY HALO DOGWOOD

#3SUMMERWINE NINEBARK

WINE & ROSES WEIGELA #3

ROOT SPACING NOTES

CONTAINER

BB

CONTAINER

CONTAINER

SEE PLAN

SEE PLAN

SEE PLAN

SEE PLAN

NURSERY MATCHED,

QUALITY SPECIMEN

NURSERY MATCHED,

QUALITY SPECIMEN

NURSERY MATCHED,

QUALITY SPECIMEN

NURSERY MATCHED,

QUALITY SPECIMEN

FLOWERING TREE 1-1/2" DBH BB SEE PLAN

NURSERY MATCHED,

QUALITY SPECIMEN

BLACKHILLS SPRUCE

NURSERY MATCHED,

QUALITY SPECIMEN

6' HEIGHT BB SEE PLAN

2" DBH

K:\Shared Company\Proj\516716-10 KNOX REZONING\516716-10 KNOX REZONING Site Plan.dwg, 1/4/2017 1:55:27 PM, DWG To PDF.pc3



1

Community Development and Planning Department
City Hall

101 First Street SE
Cedar Rapids, IA 52401

Telephone: (319) 286-5041

To: City Planning Commission

From: Adam Lindenlaub, Community Development and Planning

Subject: Consider recommendation to City Council for adoption of the Mt. Vernon Road
Corridor Action Plan and its inclusion in EnvisionCR

Date: January 12, 2017

BACKGROUND INFORMATION:
EnvisionCR identified Mt. Vernon Road SE as one of eight important transportation corridors in
Cedar Rapids that should be examined for improvements related to the topic areas of:

 Placemaking
 Connectivity
 Land Use
 Character
 Streetscapes

Confluence was selected by the City to aid in development of this first Corridor Action Plan, or
CAP, and work began in May of 2016. Based on public feedback, the five topic areas above
were condensed into the focus areas of Land Use, Character, and Circulation to address issues
and concerns along the corridor. Numerous stakeholder meetings in addition to an online survey
were utilized to gather information.  Three public events were held as described below:

 June 16, 2016 Visioning Workshop
o Attended by over 200
o Gather information about issues and concerns

 September 12. 2016 Open House
o Attended by over 80
o Share feedback from the Visioning Workshop
o Share draft goals and action items for addressing issues related to Land Use,

Character, and Circulation
o Vote for most important action items
o Gather feedback on proposed roadway cross-sections
o Gather feedback on potential improvements for the 15th Street and 19th Street

intersections



2

 November 9, 2016 Open House
o Attended by over 90
o Share feedback from previous open house
o Provide more detail on the action items that received the most votes at the

previous open house
o Share the proposed roadway cross-sections
o Share the proposed improvements for the 15th Street and 19th Street intersections

Based on public feedback, 23 Action Items were developed to be completed by the City to
improve the land use, character, and circulation along the corridor.  These Action Items will be
reviewed annually as part of the EnvisionCR Initiatives Evaluation and Review process to ensure
their completion.

The Mt. Vernon Road CAP Advisory Group, comprised of various citizens, held their sixth and
final meeting on December 20, 2016 to review the final plan document and make their
recommendation for adoption by the City Council.

NEXT STEPS:

Staff is requesting the City Planning Commission recommend approval of the plan by City
Council and its inclusion in EnvisionCR.  With City Planning Commission recommendation, the
plan will go to the City Council Development Committee on January 18, 2017 for their
recommendation and finally to the City Council on January 24, 2017.



01.24.2017

MT. VERNON ROAD

CORRIDOR 
ACTION

PLAN
CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
CITY PLANNING COMMISSION

ADVISORY GROUP

CITY COUNCIL

Chris Shires
Patrick Alvord
Brenda Nelson
Ryan Anderson

Phil Cronin - Business Manager
Steve Graham - Cedar Rapids Community School District
Lynette Richards - Oak Hill Jackson Neighborhood Association
Jim Sattler - Property Owner
Diane Stefani - Resident
Kathy Ulrich - Cedar Rapids Area Catholic Education System
Justin Wasson - Wellington Heights Neighborhood Association
Phil Wasta - MedQ
Al Weaver - Realtors
Brandon Whyte - Corridor Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO)

Jim Halverson, Chair
Richard Pankey, Vice Chair
Dominique Blank
Samantha Dahlby
Lisa Peloquin
Kimberly King
Karl Cassell
Virginia Witts
Anthony Brown

Councilmember Ann Poe
Councilmember Scott Overland
Councilmember Pat Shey 

CITY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

Ron Corbett, Mayor
Susie Weinacht, At Large
Ann Poe, At Large
Ralph Russell, At Large
Kris Gullick, District 1
Scott Overland, District 2
Pat Shey, District 3
Scott Olson, District 4
Justin Shields, District 5

Community Development Department
Jennifer Pratt, Director
Bill Micheel, Assistant Director
Adam Lindenlaub, Planner 
Kirsty Sanchez, Planner 
Seth Gunnerson, Planner
Jeff Hintz, Planner
Anne Russett, Planner

Public Works
John Witt
Doug Wilson
Jennifer Selby

PLANNING TEAM

Jim Halverson
Aaron Gwinnup
Jeremy Kaemmer

CITY MANAGER’S OFFICE

Jeff Pomeranz, City Manager
Emily Muhlbach



TABLE OF CONTENTS
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN

APPENDIX C: PUBLIC OPEN HOUSE #2

APPENDIX D: PUBLIC OPEN HOUSE #3

APPENDIX E: TECHNICAL ASSESSMENT

APPENDIX A: PUBLIC WORKSHOP #1

p.   2   1.01  Background
p.   7   1.02  Planning Process
p.   8   1.03  Summary
p.   9   1.04  Next Steps

p. 10   2.01  Overview
p. 10   2.02  Corridor Action Plan Approach
p. 11   2.03  Corridor Action Plan - Circulation
p. 19   2.04  Corridor Action Plan - Land Use
p. 23   2.05  Corridor Action Plan - Character

p. 82   5.01  Overview - September 12, 2016 Public Open House
p. 83   5.02  Welcome Boards 
p. 85   5.03  SWOT Summary
p. 86   5.04  Word Cloud Results
p. 87   5.05  Precedent Image Results
p. 90   5.06  Future Land Use - Proposed Concepts
p. 91   5.07  Land Use Action Item Voting Board
p. 92   5.08  Proposed Gateway/Intersection Marker Locations
p. 93   5.09  Character Action Item Voting Board
p. 94   5.10  2015 Truck Route Map
p. 95     5.11  Potential Street Cross Sections
p. 96   5.12  Potential Street Intersection Concepts
p. 100   5.13  Circulation Action Item Voting Board
p. 101    5.14  Next Steps
p. 102   5.15  Action Item Voting Results - Circulation
p. 103   5.16  Action Item Voting Results - Land Use
p. 104   5.17  Action Item Voting Results - Character
p. 105   5.18  Public Survey Comments - Circulation
p. 106   5.19  Public Survey Comments - Land Use
p. 107   5.20  Public Survey Comments - Character
p. 108   5.21  Public Survey Comments - Other
p. 109   5.22  Public Survey Comments - Online

p. 110     6.01 Overview - November 9, 2016 Public Open House
p. 111     6.02  Welcome Boards
p. 112     6.03  Action Plan Focus Areas
p. 113     6.04  Circulation Action Item Board
p. 116     6.05  Land Use Action Item Board
p. 118     6.06  Character Action Item Board
p. 120     6.07  Next Steps Boards
p. 122     6.08  Public Survey Comments - Circulation
p. 123      6.09  Public Survey Comments - Land Use
p. 124     6.10  Public Survey Comments - Character
p. 125     6.11  Public Survey Comments - Online

p. 28   3.01  Overview - 6/16/2016 Public Visioning Workshop
p. 30   3.02  Public Input #1 Focus Areas and Summary
p. 31   3.03  DOT Exercise Results
p. 37   3.04  SWOT Exercise Results
p. 38   3.05  Today/Future Notecard Exercise Results
p. 40   3.06  Today/Future Notecard Word Cloud
p. 41   3.07  Digital Preferencing Exercise
p. 46   3.08  Public Comments
p. 51   3.09  Base Map
p. 54   3.10  Aerial Plans
p. 57   3.11  Existing Land Use
p. 60   3.12  Future Land Use
p. 63   3.13  Residential Year Built
p. 66   3.14  Transit Routes and Stops
p. 69   3.15  Existing Walking and Bicycling Facilities

p. 126    7.01 Technical Assessment and Analysis
             of Existing Conditions

01

02

03

05

06

07

APPENDIX B: EXISTING CONDITIONS
p. 72   4.01 Overview - Existing Conditions
p. 73   4.02  Slope Analysis
p. 76   4.03  Existing Utilities
p. 79   4.04  Existing Right of Way Analysis

04



MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA

[This page left intentionally blank]



CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.01 BACKGROUND

INTRODUCTION

In 2014, the City of Cedar Rapids underwent a public input driven visioning process to develop a new comprehensive 
plan called EnvisionCR. This plan, designed to further Cedar Rapids progress as a vibrant community, is founded 
upon six elements designed to achieve visionary goals over time and outlines initiatives essential for successful 
action. Among the many initiatives, and as part of the element StrengthenCR, the City identified Mt. Vernon Road as 
a key transportation linkage in need of a Corridor Action Plan (CAP).  

This important corridor was part of the historic Lincoln Highway and remains the only primary connector from the 
east side of the City to downtown Cedar Rapids. It contains a wide mix of land uses, is served by public transit and 
is one of the top ten most traveled roads in the City with an average daily traffic count of over 20,000 vehicles for 
the majority of its length. Improvements to this corridor will help welcome visitors, facilitate the flow of all modes of 
transportation, encourage quality development and redevelopment and improve quality of life for its residents.

This CAP provides an analysis of current conditions and a list of recommended actions designed to improve or 
address issues along the corridor.

Primary areas of analysis and action relate to:

• Placemaking 
• Connectivity 
• Land Use
• Character
• Streetscapes

Figure 1: Birdseye View Down Corridor



MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA

PLANNING AREA

The 2.8-mile study area runs along Mt. Vernon Road from 10th Street SE to 44th Street SE. This corridor project 
encompasses a swath several blocks wide north and south of the main thoroughfare and is generally bounded by 
8th Ave. SE and Dalewood Ave. SE on the North and 11th Ave. SE, Sheridan Dr. SE and Zeman Dr. to the south.  
See Figure 2, 3 & 4.

EXISTING CONDITIONS

The Mt. Vernon Road corridor contains a wide array of land use including retail, service, restaurant, office and 
residential.  Commercial and retail development along the corridor has evolved with time creating a mosaic of land 
uses and architectural styles that are more of a reflection of the disparate times in which they were built than they 
are the result of strategic and managed growth. This corridor has adequately served the day to day needs of the 
SE Cedar Rapids residents for some time but recent losses of local restaurants and languishing redevelopment has 
taken its toll on the area.  While numerous businesses and restaurants continue to prosper, there are others that 
exhibit signs of aging and deterioration.  The increased traffic pressure, wide variety of right-of way (ROW) widths, 
land uses, and the resulting disjointed aesthetic can create a challenging development climate affecting the long 
term health of the corridor.  Figures 5 through 16 show images of the existing condition of the sidewalks and road.

PLAN GOALS

The Mt Vernon Road CAP will identify public improvements that will enhance the corridor and spur private investment 
by identifying the following:

1 AESTHETIC IMPROVEMENTS ALONG THE CORRIDOR AND AT KEY INTERSECTIONS.

2 OPPORTUNITIES FOR QUALITY DEVELOPMENT/REDEVELOPMENT.

3  PLACEMAKING OPPORTUNITIES.

4 PEDESTRIAN AND BICYCLE IMPROVEMENTS TO INCREASE CONNECTIVITY ALONG AND TO THE CORRIDOR.

1.01 BACKGROUND

Figure 2: Plan Area



CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN

THY HER  E

PARCELS CITY PARKS BUILDING FOOTPRINTS MUNICIPAL BOUNDARIES SCHOOLS

THY HER  E

PARCELS CITY PARKS BUILDING FOOTPRINTS MUNICIPAL BOUNDARIES SCHOOLS

SCALE:
0' 500' 1000'250'

1"=500'

SCALE:
0' 500' 1000'250'

1"=500'

1.01 BACKGROUND

Figure 3: West Half of Project Area

Figure 4: East Half of Project Area



MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA

Figure 5: Existing sidewalk condition along Mt. Vernon Road

Figure 8: Existing sidewalk condition along Mt. Vernon Road

Figure 6: Existing sidewalk condition along Mt. Vernon Road

Figure 9: Existing sidewalk condition along Mt. Vernon Road

Figure 7: Existing sidewalk condition along Mt. Vernon Road

Figure 10: Existing sidewalk condition along Mt. Vernon Road

1.01 BACKGROUND

A

D

B

E

C

F

A B FEDC



CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN

Figure 11: Existing roadway condition along Mt. Vernon Road

Figure 14: Existing roadway condition along Mt. Vernon Road

Figure 12: Existing roadway condition along Mt. Vernon Road

Figure 15: Existing roadway condition along Mt. Vernon Road

Figure 13: Existing roadway condition along Mt. Vernon Road

Figure 16: Existing roadway condition along Mt. Vernon Road

1.01 BACKGROUND

G

J

H

K

I

L

G
J

H I L
K



MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA

1.02 PLANNING PROCESS

The planning for this corridor action plan was a significant public collaborative process.  Community stakeholders 
and the public contributed greatly in both the analysis and in planning and design direction.  A key segment of 
stakeholders was the Advisory Group, who represented various interests along the corridor and, in addition to 
providing feedback, also provided a review of the public engagement process and the plan document. Initial 
meetings with key stakeholders helped the planning team to develop a clear picture of the corridor’s’s challenges 
and opportunities and gather diverse perspectives regarding corridor needs. Over the course of the project, three 
public input meetings were held to better understand the needs and desires of the citizens and the priorities 
regarding improvement efforts.  Throughout the project, information, meeting results and draft recommendations 
were available on the City’s website and a public survey available to encourage feedback. 

Initial planning efforts for the corridor began with data collection and an analysis of existing conditions. The project 
team reviewed data including existing infrastructure plans, existing land use and zoning, current design guidelines 
and standards, census data, building permit data, and existing and future anticipated development plans among 
others. The consultant team photo documented the area to assess the current factors relative to site characteristics 
and aesthetics, land uses and development issues.

A detailed transportation analysis was conducted and a high-level technical memorandum prepared.  It included 
review of various public documents such as Paving for Progress Plans, Complete Streets Design Manual and 
EnvisionCR to identify consistencies and inconsistencies with the plans. Traffic and accident data was reviewed to 
better understand needed transportation improvements and opportunities.

Stormwater management, water service, and sanitary sewer analysis were performed and summarized in a high-level 
technical memorandum that contrasted findings with best management practices and outlined possible improved 
stormwater management opportunities.

Key stakeholder and focus groups were interviewed to provide the planning team with background, ideas and goals 
associated with the various groups.  Stakeholder/focus group members consisted of business owners, residents, 
and developers. Gathering stakeholder views and perspectives early in the project allowed the stakeholders to 
provide focus and direction to the planning efforts. 

The three public meetings were spread throughout the project timeline to engage the community in the planning 
process and provide input for the action plan as it was being developed.  The first meeting introduced the planning 
project to over 200 members of the public and gathered opinions, thoughts and goals of the participants.  Using 
the information gathered at the first meeting along with the stakeholder information, research and analysis, the 
planning team developed draft goals and action items. For simplicity, the goals and action items were categorized 

1.02 PLANNING PROCESS

into three primary focus areas; Circulation, Land Use and Character.  The suggested action items provided solutions 
to concerns as express by the public and stakeholders.

At the second meeting, attended by over 80 citizens, an informational summary of input from the first public meeting 
along with the responding draft action items was presented. These action items were developed as a direct result of 
citizen and stakeholder input.  Public voting to prioritize the draft action items helped inform the final recommendations.

The most highly prioritized draft action items in each of the three focus areas as derived from the public input 
were further developed for public review and comment in the third and final public meeting which was attended 
by over 90 citizens. These action items represented the primary recommendations for corridor improvement.   



CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN

1.03 SUMMARY

Figure 17: Public Input Meeting #1

Figure 18: Public Input Meeting #1

1.03 SUMMARY

Based upon the original goals of the Corridor Action Plan and the public input received during the planning process,  
the plan has been separated into three focus areas: Character, Land Use, and Circulation. The following is a summary 
of the focus area goals and preferred action steps.

Character

The Character focus relates to landscaping, lighting, signage, streetscaping, building architecture, property 
maintenance, and other appearance matters along the corridor.

Three major goals have been identified for Character: 

• Improve the asthetic appeal of the corridor
• Celebrate the historical significance of the corridor
• Reduce visual clutter along the corridor

From these goals the following action items were developed:

• Provide a unique sense of place through streetscapes, gateways, and signage.
• Identify future funding resources for enhanced maintenance and joint marketing opportunities such as a Self-

Supporting Municipal Improvement Corridor’s (SSMID).
• Incorporate unifying plant materials throughout the Mt. Vernon Road Corridor.
• Include Lincoln Highway identity as part of aesthetic improvements.
• Provide educational signage and/or landmarks at historical sites along the corridor.
• Identify established neighborhoods and provide signage to celebrate these neighborhoods.
• When possible, bury overhead electrical lines and remove timber poles. 
• Reduce the quantity and size of commercial signage along Mt. Vernon Road. Consider eliminating pole signs 

as an option. 
• Plant additional street trees to unify the appearance of Mt. Vernon Road where possible.
• Evaluate the need for regular sidewalk and crosswalk inspection process and maintenance plan. 

The following were further identified by the public as the top three action items in order of priority: 

1. When possible, bury overhead electrical lines and remove timber poles. 

2. Provide a unique sense of place through streetscapes, gateways, and signage. 

3. Reduce the quantity and size of commercial signage along Mt. Vernon Road. Consider eliminating pole signs 
as an option.



MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA

Land Use

The Land Use focus includes items related to zoning, permitted uses, and how property is developed and redeveloped.

Two major goals have been identified for Land Use: 
• Promote new retail development and redevelopment along the corridor.
• Encourage neighborhood scale and neighborhood friendly uses.

To help implement these goals, the following action items were crafted:

• Establish design and use standards that support redevelopment on smaller lots, and promote buildings that 
are in scale with the surrounding neighborhood

• Restrict or prohibit uses that are not considered neighborhood friendly.
• Focus  retail and multi-family development and redevelopment at major intersections and existing commercial 

areas. 
• Continue to track the effectiveness of standard City financial incentive assistance programs that can benefit 

redevelopment of vacant or exisiting sites. 

Two of the action items were further refined as the top action items for this focus area based on public feedback: 

1. Restrict or prohibit uses that are not considered neighborhood friendly. 

2. Establish design and use standards that support redevelopment on smaller lots, and promote buildings that 
are in scale with the surrounding neighborhood.

Circulation

The Circulation focus covers issues related to traffic congestion, pedestrian, and bicycle circulation, transit, street 
right-of-way, and safety. 

The following two goals were developed for this area of focus: 

• Improve traffic circulation and safety. 
• Increase walkability and safety for pedestrians and bicycles.

From these goals the following seven action items were created: 

• Analyze and make improvements to reduce the number of and/or impact of the existing off-set intersections.

• Reduce the number of commercial driveways that directly access Mt. Vernon Road and restrict left turns 
with a center median. 

• Establish a minimum standard street profile and right-of-way that accommodates 4 travel lanes, turn lanes, 
center median, sidewalks and snow storage.

• Create a plan to improve access to and use of public transit including bus stop locations and minimum 
necessary improvements to bus stop locations such as sidewalk accessibility, signage, benches and shelters. 

• Develop a plan to phase roadway, median, turn lane, sidewalk and crosswalk improvements with priority 
given to areas with the most congestion. 

• Require right-of-way dedication, street and sidewalk improvements, and driveway relocations at the time of 
development or redevelopment of adjoining properties. 

• Provide signage to delineate the preferred bicycle routes through and around the Mt. Vernon Road Corridor. 

Three of these seven action items were identified as top priorities by the public: 

1. Develop a plan to phase roadway, median, turn lane, sidewalk and crosswalk improvements with priority 
given to areas with the most congestion. 

2. Provide signage to delineate the preferred bicycle routes through and around the Mt. Vernon Road Corridor. 

3. Establish a minimum standard street profile and right-of-way that accommodates 4 travel lanes, turn lanes, 
center median, sidewalks and snow storage.

1.04 NEXT STEPS

All of the action items identified in this plan are important, however, those listed as top priorities in each category 
are the preferred items of focus moving forward. Certain action items will be easier to complete than others and the 
timeline and/or budget requirements for completion vary greatly. These action items and their priorities should be 
regularly reviewed and considered when completing capital improvement planning and identifying city department 
work priorities. 

This plan’s goals and action items can further serve as a resource when evaluating the value, appropriateness, and 
standards of development proposals, rezoning requests, as well as public and private improvement plans within the 
corridor planning area.

1.04 NEXT STEPS



CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN

2.01 OVERVIEW
The Corridor Action Plan was developed as a response to the call for action as outlined in EnvisionCR. Specific 
action items and recommendations were informed by an understanding of the vision and goals for the corridor, 
technical assessment, analysis of existing conditions and public and staff input. 

To reflect the concerns and values of the public, recommendations are addressed within the action plan in order 
of public prioritization.  It should be noted, that the corridor poses numerous challenges, and potential preferred 
solutions are not always mutually compatible. For instance, the public desires to keep the existing single family 
homes and residential character; improve traffic flow; minimize congestion and improve streetscaping and 
appearance. Given the existing conditions, meeting all of these goals is not effectively possible. The minimum ROW 
width required to provide needed lanes, medians, walks and landscaping to soften and enhance the corridor would 
require purchasing significant additional ROW in some portions of the corridor’s, necessitating removal of existing 
single family residences. Thus corrective measures must be carefully weighed and prioritized to understand their full 
impact upon the short and long term vision for the corridor.  These recommendations take such difficult decisions 
into account and provide solutions that will best serve the neighborhood and community for years to come.

CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN
2.02 CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN APPROACH

During the planning process, it was found that the concerns for the corridor’s and improvement efforts generally fell 
into three areas of focus; Circulation, Character, and Land Use.  As a result, these categories were used to organize 
and inform the structure of the information presented to the public and the Corridor Action Plan (CAP). For the CAP, 
all recommendations within these categories are enumerated in order of importance.

The Circulation recommendations focus upon actions that improve unsafe road conditions, ease vehicular congestion, 
and promote a more pedestrian friendly aesthetic environment.  Character action items provide recommendations 
for aesthetic improvements and cohesive design focusing on elements that create a sense of place and bring 
meaning to the environment.  The Land Use action category identifies beneficial changes in land use, standards and 
regulations that support the vision for this corridor’s as laid out by the city and citizens of the corridor. 



MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA

2.03 CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN (CIRCULATION)

CIRCULATION OVERVIEW

The City of Cedar Rapids and the Corridor Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) have both identified Mt. 
Vernon Road as a primary corridor within the Cedar Rapids area. It is part of the old Lincoln Highway system, one 
of the earliest transcontinental highways in the U.S. (now Highway 151) and the primary connection from the east 
edge of town to the downtown corridor’s. This road is also part of the National Highway System, which is a network 
of arterial roadways and highways that serve major population centers or major travel destinations as part of the 
overall goals of improving the nation’s economy, defense, and mobility. In addition, the entire Mt. Vernon Road 
corridor from Highway 13 to 1st Avenue East, via 10th Street SE, has been identified by the state as part of the 
Farm-to-Market Road System. These road systems are quality roads, usually highways that are slated to transport 
products to towns or distribution centers.  The City has determined that this corridor will require improvements to 
meet future travel demands and direct the amount and type of urban growth desired. The comprehensive plan, 
EnvisionCR called for a “corridor action plan” for a number of primary city arterials and selected Mt. Vernon Road 
as one of the first to be developed. The Mt. Vernon Road right-of-way varies in width from 60’ to 100’ going from a 
2-lane road at the east end to a 4-lane road with turn lanes at its widest points within the project study area. With 
a traffic count of over 23,000 vehicles daily, this roadway would typically require at least four lanes along with turn 
lanes to properly accommodate traffic flow safely. The majority of Mt. Vernon Road consists of 4 traffic lanes, (sans 
turn lanes) but even with 4 lanes, a 66’ wide right of way is insufficient to handle a major arterial such as Mt. Vernon 
Road.  The implementation of a road diet on Mt. Vernon Road was examined. A road diet involves converting, often 
through re-striping travel lanes, a roadway from four lanes to three lanes. A three lane roadway has a thru lane in 
each direction and a center turn lane. This configuration increases the safety of the roadway for not only motorists 
but also pedestrians and bicyclists. However, factors such as traffic volume, the parallel street network, and its use 
as a truck route, led to the determination that a road diet would not be appropriate west of 34th Street.

Complaints of the industrial truck traffic were common throughout the public input process.  While the comments 
are not unfounded, the City previously studied the truck routes and determined that an alternate route is not practical 
with the current circulation patterns and industry locations. Mt. Vernon Road is designated by the State as part of 
the Farm to Market system and is a truck route into the city from its connection to Highway 13, which is outside 
of the city limits. Additionally, from 44th Street to Highway 13, the road falls under the jurisdiction of Linn County.  
Furthermore, because of other natural barriers such as the Cedar River and the existing road infrastructure which 
lacks substitute arterial corridors from the east, it is impractical at this time to provide an alternate route.

The second concern noted in the technical assessment located in Appendix E is sidewalk accessibility.  Multiple 
sidewalk accessibility issues and hazards were noted throughout the corridor’s including 9 intersections entirely 
without curb ramps.  In line with the City’s adopted Complete Streets Policy, and in an effort to make the entire 
community accessible and connected, the City should continue to review walks, crosswalks, and sidewalk ramps to 
ensure they support the American with Disabilities Act (ADA).  In 2016, the City committed $5,000,000 annually for 
a period of four to five years to improve accessibility issues such as sidewalk ramps.  It is estimated that an average 
of 1,000 sidewalk ramps per year will be improved city-wide over this time period.

With a wide variety of land uses along the corridor, the resulting access management issues of multiple driveways, 
access drives and alleys create hazardous conditions for vehicles, pedestrians and bicyclists. While diverse land uses 
along the corridor require different transportation needs, a cohesive circulation corridor can be achieved by targeted 
improvements in multimodal transportation, sidewalk accessibility, intersection design, access management and 
streetscaping. 

Thorough analysis of the Mt. Vernon Road corridor circulation and infrastructure provided a solid basis to identify 
needs and opportunities for improvements. A combination of approaches and solutions are recommended as part 
of this CAP to address current issues and further enhance transportation of all modes in the project area.  Vehicular 
circulation recommendations focus on adjusting the road profile by providing additional turn lanes and right-of-way 
where needed. Modifications for dangerous intersections are addressed through the use of medians and potential 
realignment of unsafe intersections.  The City should strongly consider either intersection improvements (Figure 20 
and Figure 21) or realignment at the Mt. Vernon Road 19th Street offset intersection to improve safety, and median 
improvements to establish a ¾ intersection at 15th Street (see Figure 19) where the offset, and sight lines create the 
most dangerous condition in the corridor.  Medians to restrict left turns should be incorporated to improve safety.  An 

Action Item Timeframe
Develop a plan to phase roadway, turn lane, median, sidewalk and crosswalk 
improvements with priority given to areas with the most congestion.

2 to 3 Years

Establish a minimum standard street profile and right of way that accommodates 4 travel  
lanes, turn lanes, center median, sidewalks and snow storage.

2 to 3 Years

Provide signage to delineate the preferred bicycle routes through and around the Mt. 
Vernon Road Corridor.

Beyond 5 Years

Reduce the number of commercial driveways that directly access Mt. Vernon Road and 
restrict left turns with a center median.

Beyond 5 Years

Continue to improve access to and use of public transit including bus stop locations and 
minimum necessary improvements to bus stop locations such as sidewalk accessibility, 
signage, benches and shelters.

Within 1 Year

Require Right-of way dedication, street and sidewalk improvements, and driveway 
relocations at the time of development or redevelopment of adjoining properties.

Beyond 5 Years

Analyze and make safety improvements to key intersections and reduce the number of and/
or impact of existing offset street intersections.

4 to 5 Years

The following table shows the anticipated schedule for when efforts will be intitiated on each action item.



CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN

2.03 CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN (CIRCULATION)

Figure 19: Proposed 15th Street Intersection Improvements

Figure 20: Proposed Short Term 19th Street Intersection Improvements Figure 21: Long Term 19th Street Intersection Improvements



MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA

SUMMARIZED PUBLIC INPUT

GOALS

ACTION ITEMS

•

•

• Speeding

•

• Lack of turn lanes

• Not walkable

• Lack of pedestrian crosswalks

• More sidewalk connectivity

• No room for/not safe for bikes

• Keep bikes off the roadway

• Improve road and sidewalk maintenance

•

• Increase walkability and safety for      
 pedestrians and bicycles.

Analyze and make improvements to reduce the number of 
and/or impact of the existing off-set street intersections. 

Reduce the number of commercial driveways that directly 
access Mt. Vernon Road and restrict left turns with a center 
median.

way that accommodates 4 travel lanes, turn lanes, center 
median, sidewalks, and snow storage.

Create a plan to improve access to and use of public 
transit including bus stop locations and minimum necessary 
improvements to bus stop locations such as sidewalk 
accessibility, signage, benches and shelters.

Develop a plan to phase roadway, median, turn lane, 
sidewalk, and crosswalk improvements with priority given 
to areas with the most congestion. 

Require right-of-way dedication, street and sidewalk 
improvements, and driveway relocations at the time of 
development or redevelopment of adjoining properties. 

DOT VOTING

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

A

B

C

D

E

F

G
Provide signage to delineate the preferred bicycle routes 
through and around the Mt. Vernon Road Corridor.

10

19

32

19

60

13

39

Figure 22: Circulation Voting Summary

additional buffer of parkway pavers between the edge of Mt. Vernon Road and the pedestrian walkway will provide 
a sense of safety and a more pleasant walking experience for the pedestrian. This extra space along with the center 
median will provide area for snow storage. Finally, improving other modes of transportation experiences such as 
public transit, and developing a more walkable, pedestrian friendly corridor’s have the potential to relieve some of 
the burden from the corridor while making it a safer and more pleasing environment.

The following goals were created based on the public input received during the development of the Mt. 
Vernon Road Corridor Action Plan

2.03 CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN (CIRCULATION)
• Improve traffic circulation and safety
• Increase walkability and safety for pedestrians and bicyclists

CIRCULATION ACTION ITEMS

Through careful analysis, the following action items were developed and presented to the public for prioritization and 
comment. An illustration of the voting and prioritization can be found in Figure 22.

1.  Develop a plan to phase roadway, turn lane, median, sidewalk and crosswalk    
 improvements with priority given to areas with the most congestion.

The City’s Public Works and Community Development Departments should coordinate Mt. Vernon Road 
improvements with other city efforts such as with Paving for Progress projects and previously planned 
improvement projects already identified in the City’s capital improvement plan, to efficiently implement 
phased improvements based on funding and greatest impact to reduce congestion.  Areas of greatest need 
and currently identified project phasing are illustrated in Figure 23.
 
Key intersections already identified in EnvisionCR and the 2040 Corridor MPO Long Range Transportation 
Plan (LRTP) should be placed high in priority with special consideration to the offset intersections at 15th 
Street, 19th Street and 34th Street where traffic volumes are high and where accident rates are the most 
frequent in the corridor. This phased plan should be part of the comprehensive corridor Streetscape Master 
Plan documents, referenced on page ten, and should provide a targeted installation schedule.

2. Establish a minimum standard street profile and right of way that accommodates 4   
 travel  lanes, turn lanes, center median, sidewalks and snow storage.

Right-of-way in the west portion of the Mt. Vernon Road corridor is limited and does not meet the current 
minimum City standard of 80’.  Providing additional travel and turn lanes, accommodating pedestrian traffic, 
snow storage and planting buffer to bolster character also takes space. To meet the goals of the City and 
the desires of citizens as expressed through prioritization, the City should, when practical, strive to provide a 
standard right-of-way width of 82’ as shown in Figure 24 on page 15 to allow implementation of turn lanes, 
improved crosswalks, paved and landscaped medians, and parkway buffers. One exception to this is the 
segment from 38th Street SE to East Post Road.  Conditions such as traffic volume and issues with crashes 
make a road-diet (conversion from four lanes to three) in this area feasible.

To minimize neighborhood impact, right-of-way should be acquired on the south side of Mt. Vernon Road 
where necessary to meet minimum standard profile.



CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN

4 5

38th Street East Post Road

Figure 23: Critical Intersections

1 2 3

15th Street 19th Street Memorial Drive

2.03 CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN (CIRCULATION)



MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA

2.03 CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN (CIRCULATION)

3. Provide signage to delineate the preferred bicycle routes through and around the Mt.  
 Vernon Road Corridor. 

The current hazards of the road pose a danger for cyclists who ride along Mt. Vernon Road. High vehicular 
traffic totals, fast speed, congestion and countless curb cuts create unmanaged access and multiple conflict 
points for the bicyclist.  Alternatively, encouraging bikes on walks or shared use paths in the corridor’s 
would not eliminate the conflict with drives and alleys and would increase potential conflict with pedestrians.  
Because of these conditions, a shared use path is not recommended along Mt. Vernon Road and the 
predominant public sentiment concurs that cyclists should not be encouraged along this major thoroughfare. 

Figure 24: 82’ Street Cross Section

Therefore, signage should be installed to clearly identify and direct bicyclists to the nearby bikeways that 
parallel and cross the corridor as seen in Figure 25. It is important to note that on-street (bike lanes or 
sharrows) bicycle facilities will be completed as part of road improvement projects or as standalone projects.  
This means that some parts of the parallel network may be done before others and full completion of the 
system may take many years.



CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN

2.03 CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN (CIRCULATION)

Figure 25: Bicycle Routes Near Mt. Vernon Road



MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA

4. Reduce the number of commercial driveways that directly access Mt. Vernon Road and  
 restrict left turns with a center median.

Mt. Vernon Road is one of the more dangerous roads in the city for vehicular traffic with 282 accidents 
along its length over the past five years.  A number of strategies should be employed to reduce this danger. 
First, as a tactic to reduce potential conflict points, improve safety, flow of traffic and enhanced corridor’s 
appearance, the City should institute the regulation of direct access to Mt. Vernon Road in commercial areas. 
Regulations should encourage the reconfiguration of parking lots and commercial driveways to be primarily 
off local and collector roads and when possible, consolidate driveways.  Secondly, the City should improve 
access management by controlling left turn movements through the use of strategically placed medians.  

5. Continue to improve access to and use of public transit including bus stop    
 locations and minimum necessary improvements to bus stop locations such as   
 sidewalk accessibility, signage, benches and shelters.

The following design standards and recommendations are based in part on the Des Moines Area Regional 
Transit Authority’s recently developed design standard Bus Stop & Amenity Design Guidelines (January 
2014). Based on the current and anticipated densities in the corridor the bus stop spacing standards should 
follow the ”General Urban” standards for the Mt. Vernon Road corridor. The General Urban land category 
usually falls on the border between urban and suburban areas. Street patterns may follow the grid network 
commonly found in urban centers, but have the beginning signs of more suburban street patterns with 
curved roads and fewer access point to main collector streets and arterials. Bus stops should be placed 
around 1,000 feet apart to provide efficient service in these regions.

The City should continue its practice of reviewing bus stop locations to ensure that they are located to 
support large employers, community and retail centers, be spaced in a manner that ensures appropriate 
and equitable distribution throughout the corridor and maximizes the efficiency of transit service operations.

All basic bus stops in the corridor should consist of an accessible area and easily identifiable and consistent 
signage. Bus stops should be clearly and easily recognizable with up-to-date information for riders about 
services at the bus stop.

Current bus stop locations and placement should be reviewed for safety and convenience. To provide both 
safety and convenience for customers, pedestrians, bus operators and other vehicles existing bus stops 
deemed unsafe or inconvenient should be improved or relocated.

The City should review all bus stop locations to ensure they support the Americans with Disabilities Act 
(ADA).

2.03 CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN (CIRCULATION)

All stops should contain a landing pad – along with a hard surface pathway that connects the sidewalk to 
the landing pad and curb. Landing pads are generally 5 foot by 8 foot and must meet all ADA requirements 
for surface and slope.

In addition, a shelter and seating should be provided at sites identified as major bus stop locations. Shelters 
should be lit and benches ranging from four (4) feet to eight (8) feet should be provided for use by passengers 
waiting for a bus to arrive.  No signage should be permitted on these benches and they should either match 
the city standard or match the amenity design designated for the streetscape corridor. Trash cans routinely 
emptied and maintained by the City may be justified at certain key bus stops. These containers should also 
match the city standard or match the amenity design designated for the corridor’s. 

6. Require right-of way dedication, street and sidewalk improvements, and driveway   
 relocations at the time of development or redevelopment of adjoining properties.

Impending improvements associated with this action plan are intended and likely to spur development or 
redevelopment in the corridor.  With a long range vision for the corridor’s in mind, the City should consult and 
follow the recommendations contained in this plan, as well as other City plans, when reviewing development 
and redevelopment proposals. This will help ensure that projects meet the goals and recommendations of 
the plan.

7. Analyze and make safety improvements to key intersections and reduce the number of   
 and/or impact of existing offset street intersections.

Properly designed intersections are integral to the efficiency and safety of the Mt. Vernon Road corridor, 
not just for motorists but pedestrians, cyclists, and transit riders as well.  Offset intersections are especially 
hazardous and the project area has a total of eight of them. Three key intersections, including 19th Street, 
Memorial Drive, and 34th Street stand out in particular because of their higher traffic volumes and safety 
issues.  The 19th Street intersection is offset, has a double light configuration, obstructed sight lines and no 
sidewalk crossings. Memorial Drive has sight line issues due to steep approaches and 34th Street suffers from 
disparity in traffic volumes and sheer size of the paved region within the intersection. The other problematic 
intersections are the 10th Street and 8th Avenue juncture at the western most end of Mt. Vernon Road, and 
between the two offset 15th street intersection crossings where 27 separate crashes occurred in the past 
five years. Determining the appropriate corrective measure will require further study, but these intersections 
should be of highest priority for remediation.



CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN

 ADDITIONAL CIRCULATION COMMENTS

Site obstructions
The technical assessment found in Appendix E revealed additional safety concerns and recommendations 
in the corridor’s not specifically noted in this report. The first is site obstructions; landscape obstructions and 
poor site visibility due to landscape foliage were found in a couple of locations on Mt. Vernon Road east of 
21st Street. The City should address existing site obstructions by requiring trimming or removal of overgrown 
landscaping by the owner where the obstruction overhangs or is in the ROW or clear zone. 

 

 

2.03 CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN (CIRCULATION)



MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA

LAND USE OVERVIEW 

Throughout the planning process, community members have made clear their desire for the development of new 
commercial uses that will benefit and enhance the neighborhood, such as sit-down style restaurants, coffee shops, 
and small specialty retail shops.  The need for vacant and older commercial sites to be redeveloped was also clearly 
stated.  Community members also communicated their concerns with the negative impacts from less neighborhood 
friendly uses, such as liquor stores, tobacco shops, tattoo parlors, automotive related businesses, and certain more 
industrial uses, and their desire that these types of uses be restricted.  

The size and scale and general quality of commercial uses were further raised as an issue. Some comments from 
community members included that additional big-box type retail stores were not desirable within their neighborhood 
due to the impact from the traffic they generate. Community members further commented that there is a need 
for better transitions and buffering between residential and commercial uses and that residential and commercial 
properties should be separated within their neighborhood.

The Mt. Vernon Road corridor includes a wide variety of land uses including a neighborhood hardware store, a large 
grocery store, several gas/convenience stores, banks and credit unions, professional offices, restaurants, bars, 
and various specialty, variety, drug, auto parts, auto repair, and discount goods stores.  The corridor also includes 
schools, churches, a residential care center, a fire station, and a cemetery.  However, the dominate land use is single 
family residential with just a few multi-family residential properties sprinkled throughout the corridor.  

There are several quick-serve and fast food restaurants but few sit-down style restaurants.  There are vacant 
properties along the corridor and some occupied commercial sites that are dated and/or in need of renovation and 
maintenance.  There are also several retail uses that are typically not considered neighborhood friendly including 
tobacco shops and liquor stores.  

It appears that over time, single family homes that fronted along Mt. Vernon Road or were located at the corner of the 
major street intersections were assembled and demolished for redevelopment into commercial sites.  Many of the 
commercial and retail uses are situated very close to residential properties with little separation between the differing 
properties.  Most commercial sites are very shallow and many may not contain the lot depth or size typically desired 
for retail development.  Certain existing City regulations and requirements, such as minimum parking requirements 
and buffer yards, may further hinder the development or redevelopment of commercial properties along this corridor.
  

2.04 CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN (LAND USE)

Figure 26: Land Use Voting Summary

SUMMARIZED PUBLIC INPUT

GOALS

ACTION ITEMS

•  Need more retail variety

•  Redevelop vacant sites

• Provide incentives for businesses to develop

• Transition between land uses

• Buffer existing residential

• Restrict certain types of uses

• Limit large box type retail

• Promote new retail development and    
 redevelopment along the corridor.

• Encourage neighborhood scale and     
 neighborhood friendly uses.

Continue to track the effectiveness of standard City 

redevelopment of vacant or existing sites.

Establish design and use standards that support 
redevelopment on smaller lots, promote buildings that are 
in scale with the surrounding neighborhood.

Focus retail and multi-family development and 
redevelopment to major intersections and existing 
commercial areas.

• More restaurants needed

• Lack of cohesiveness

• Some areas are suitable for redevelopment

• Desire for local shops and boutiques

Restrict or prohibit uses that are not considered 
neighborhood friendly.

A

B

C

D

A

B

C

D

DOT VOTING

69

85

31

20

Action Item Timeframe

Restrict or prohibit uses that are not considered neighborhood friendly. Within 1 Year

Establish design and use standards that support redevelopment on smaller lots, promote 
buildings that are in scale with the surrounding neighborhood.

Within 1 Year

Explore strategies to focus retail and multi-family development and redevelopment to major 
intersections and existing commercial areas.

Within 1 Year

Evaluate the effectiveness of standard City financial incentive assistance programs that can 
benefit redevelopment of vacant or existing sites.

2 to 3 Years

The following table shows the anticipated schedule for when efforts will be intitiated on each action item.



CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN

The following uses should be prohibited along the corridor:
 o Automotive repair and service businesses including tires.
 o New or used automotive, truck, motorcycle, RV, or boat sales.
 o Delayed deposit credit institutions, payday loan and/or car title loan establishments
 o Pawn shops
 o Tobacco and e-cigarette (vape) shops (defined as any establishment where more than 40% of its sales 

come from the sale of tobacco e-cigarette related products.
 o Liquor stores (defined as any established where more than 40% of its sales come from the sale of 

alcohol for off-site consumption). 
 o Adult entertainment businesses
 o Bars (defined as any establishment where more than 40% of its sales come from the sale of alcohol for 

on-site consumption).
 o After-hours businesses (defined as any business open during any time between the hours of 2:00 A.M. 

to 6:00 A.M. any day of the week and where patrons are allowed to bring their own beer and wine onto 
the business premises).

 o Contractor offices with indoor or outdoor storage.
 o Warehousing, distribution, or self-storage facilities or lots.

2. Establish design and use standards that support redevelopment on smaller lots,    
 promote buildings that are in scale with the surrounding neighborhood.

The City should utilize the ReZone Cedar Rapids project to explore the development of form-based zoning 
districts that align with the goals and vision of the plan and encourage mixed-use, retail and residential 
development and redevelopment along the corridor. 

The City should further consider creating special comprehensive design manual for the Mt. Vernon Road 
Corridor. This manual can summarize the design guidelines and standards for mixed-use, retail and multi-
family development and redevelopment, the development review process, and any economic incentives or 
assistance that may be available within this corridor.  Creating a comprehensive guide for development will 
help increase the rate and quality of new development within the corridor by removing unknowns from the 
review process, clearly communicating the development expectations and requirements, and advertising the 
economic incentives or assistance that may be available.     
      
Form-based zoning standards should focus on addressing the following:

 o Promoting neotraditional site design with buildings facing the street and pedestrian circulation 
emphasized.

 o Limiting building height to no greater than 3 stories.
 o Reducing building and parking lot setback standards to allow for greater flexibility.
 o Providing options for buffering, based upon building and parking lot placement and building design, 

such as allowing a fence and landscaping in lieu of a 30 ft. wide buffer area.

The following goals were created based upon the public input received during the development of the Mt. 
Vernon Road Corridor Action Plan.

• Promote new retail development and redevelopment along the corridor.
• Encourage neighborhood scale and neighborhood friendly uses.

From these goals, the following action items were developed and placed in order of priority by the community 
during the September 12, 2016, public open house. See Figure 26 for voting results from that meeting.

These four (4) Action Items were developed to address the concerns and comments raised by the community and 
manage the constraints found in this corridor all related to establishing appropriate land uses, creating transitions 
between uses, and supporting and focusing development and redevelopment. 

LAND USE ACTION ITEMS

1. Restrict or prohibit uses that are not considered neighborhood friendly.

As part of ReZone Cedar Rapids, the City should evaluate the appropriate mix of land uses and tools to 
ensure quality development.

The following uses should generally be permitted and encouraged along the corridor:

 o General retail including grocery stores, drug stores, bakeries, auto supplies (no repair service), and 
hardware stores.

 o Sit-down restaurants and coffee shops without drive-thru service.
 o General office uses including professional office services such as insurance agents, doctors, and 

dentists.

The following uses should be restricted along the corridor:
 o Retail stores larger than 50,000 sq. ft. GFA per tenant space should be restricted to the east end of the 

Mt. Vernon Road Corridor and require screening from any adjoining residential properties.
 o Restaurants and other businesses with drive-thru service (fast-food and quick serve restaurants) should 

be restricted to major street intersections.  The parking lot and drive-thrus should be screened from any 
adjacent residential properties.

 o Fuel sales (convenience stores with fuel sales) should be restricted to major street intersections and not 
be located adjacent to existing single family residential or otherwise heavily buffered.

2.04 CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN (LAND USE)



MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA

2.04 CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN (LAND USE)

ADDITIONAL LAND USE COMMENTS 

Implement stormwater best management practices as phased roadway construction  
projects take place.

Stormwater management analysis revealed few existing drainage concerns along the corridor.  However, in an 
effort to reduce flood risk and lessen the corridor’s environmental impact, the City should endeavor to apply 
stormwater best management practices (BMP’s) to future paving projects, consider implementing BMP’s at 
All Saints and Erskine schools as educational demonstration sites as well as consider possible incentives for 
commercial property BMP’s through the City’s cost share program, stormwater utility, or State Revolving Fund 
(SRF) programs. Stormwater BMPs include using rain gardens, bioswales, and permeable pavers, which also 
can improve the aesthetics of an area. Stormwater BMPs can be included in the roadway median or along 
the edge of the ROW.  Since the east end of the corridor drains into Indian Creek, which has a Master Plan, 
(see http://indiancreekwatershed.weebly.com/the-plan.html) any improvements in this region should be planned 
according to the goals of the Indian Creek Master Plan.

 o Reducing individual driveways onto Mt. Vernon Road and requiring shared parking lot driveways and 
cross-parking lot connections.

 o Reducing off-street parking requirements and credit for shared parking.
 o Establishing minimum streetscape and general site landscaping standards.
 o Creating special signage standards that include a focus on higher quality wall signage and ground 

monument signs in lieu of pole signs.

3. Explore strategies to focus retail and multi-family development and redevelopment to   
 major intersections and existing commercial areas.

In order to preserve existing single family neighborhoods, new retail and multi-family development should 
only be approved near major street intersections and areas with significant existing commercial development.  
Figures 27, 28 and 29 on page 22 identifies several areas that may be appropriate for future redevelopment 
if so desired by the property owner(s). The City may wish to consider modifying the future land use map 
from the EnvisionCR plan to ensure that this intent is clear. Specifically, the existing single family residential 
areas north and south of Mt. Vernon Road that are not near major street intersections but that are currently 
designated in the adopted future land use map as “Urban Medium Intensity” should be changed to the 
“Urban Low Intensity” or the “Urban Large Lot” land use designations. Doing so will clarify that it is the City’s 
intent that these existing single family neighborhoods be preserved and not redeveloped with more intense 
uses. 

4. Evaluate the effectiveness of standard City financial incentive assistance     
 programs that can benefit redevelopment of vacant or existing sites.

The original title of this action item started with “Continue to track” but was changed after the third open 
house to “Evaluate”.  This indicates that the City will not only track the effectiveness of programs but also 
modify them if need be. The community has stated a clear desire that additional restaurants and quality 
neighborhood retailers be added and retained within the Mt. Vernon Road Corridor. The City should consider 
providing a guide detailing the incentive programs that are available for redevelopment of sites within the 
corridor (potentially a part of a comprehensive design manual as referenced in Land Use Action Item #2).  
These programs should be periodically evaluated to determine their effectiveness in attracting new desired 
retailers.  Additional programs and incentives may be warranted to help offset the costs associated with 
redevelopment and in-fill development.  



CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN

U-LI

Civic U-MI

MT VERNON RD SE

44
TH

 S
T 

SE

M
EM

O
RIA

L D
R SE

42
N

D
 S

T 
SE

30
TH

 S

15
T

32N
D

 ST SE

12TH
 AVE SE

D
R SE

38
TH

 S
T 

SE

17
TH

 S
T 

SE

DALEWOOD AVE SE

36
TH

 S
T 

SE

16TH ST SE

6TH AVE SE

7TH AVE SE

35
TH

 S
T 

SE

43
RD

 S
T 

SE

28
TH

 S
T 

SE

MCCARTHY RD S

14TH AVE SE

9TH ST SE

33
RD

 S
T 

SE

14
TH

 S
T 

SE

VERNON DR SE

VINE AVE SE

HA
RO

LD
 D

R 
SE

21ST ST SE

CLARK RD SE

10TH AVE SE

G
RE

EN
 V

A
LL

EY
 T

ER
 S

E

RIDGEWAY DR SE

19TH ST SE

KN
O

LL
 S

T 
SE

8TH ST SE

KNO
LLW

O
O

D DR SE

7TH ST SE

HERTZ DR

40
TH

 S
T 

SE

9TH AVE SE

2ND AVE SE

20
TH

 S
T 

SE

29
TH

 S
T 

SE

MEADOWBROOK DR SE

16
TH

 S
T 23

RD
 S

T 
SE

LIN
COLN

 HEIG
HTS 

DR SE

13TH AVE SE

HENDERSON AVE SE

8TH AVE SE

GLENWAY DR SE

BR
O

C
KM

A
N

 D
R 

SE

10
TH

 S
T 

SE

39TH ST SE

ADWAY

ELEA
N

O
R C

T SE

PA

G
RA

N
T 

W
O

O
D

 D
R 

SE

HI
LL

 D
R 

SE

OLLOW
 SE

AMERICUS DR SE

ZEMAN DR

28
TH

 S
T 

C
T 

SE

HIGLEY AVE SE

C
A

M
BURN

 C
T SE

SOUTTER AVE SE

GRE
EN

W
OOD D

R S
E

LA

24TH ST SE N
O

RW
O

O
D

 D
R 

SE

HILLCREST DR SE

11
TH

 S
T 

SE

12TH ST SE

CO
BBAN CT SE

C
RE

ST
V

IE
W

 D
R 

SE

11TH AVE SE

KA
REN

 D

BEAVER RIDGE CT SE

SO
UT

TE
R 

A
V

E 
C

T 
SE

NO
W

N 
RD

 S
E

HILLHAVEN CT SE
W

EL
LIN

G
TO

N
 S

T 
SE

T SE

BE
AL

ER
 C

T S
E

20TH ST SE

25
TH

 S
T 

SE

DALEWOOD AVE SE

14TH AVE SE

NORWOOD DR SE

E

19
TH

 S
T 

SE

30TH ST SE

8TH AVE SE

UNKNOWN RD

15
TH

 S
T 

SE

15
TH

 S
T 

SE

13TH AVE SE

21ST ST SE

25TH ST SE

BEVER AVE SE

36
TH

 S
T 

SE

10TH ST SE

SE
VINE AVE SE

16
TH

 S
T 

SE

14TH AVE SE

FO
RE

ST
 D

R 
SE

UNKNOWN RD

8TH AVE SE

26
TH

 S
T 

SE
26

TH
 S

T 
SE

12TH AVE SE

23
RD

 S
T 

SE

HIGLEY AVE SE

SEST
SRIAAA THHHH
S 333 OO
LL221100THH

E

M
AAA

NDDE FFO

12THHH AAAAAVVVE SE

CCiivviicc MM
EMM

OO

DDAALLEWWOOOODD AAVVE SE

ST
SE

335
THH

ET
SE

99THHH
ST SE

3R
DD

STT
SE

VVVVINNNE AAAAAAVVVE SE

DD
DD

R
SE

HH AAVVVE SE

GG
RE

ENN
VV

AAA
L

99THH
ST

S

KK

KKNNNOO
LLLLWW

OOO
OO

DD
DDR

SE
440

THH
ST

S

99THH
AAAAAVVVE S

AAVVVVE SE

2200
THH

STT
SE

2299
THH

66T
HH

ST

223

LLINN
CCOOLLNN

HHHHEIGG
HHTS

DDDR SE8THHH AAAVVVE SE

GLENNWWAAAAYYYY DDDR SE

N
DD

R
SE

3399THHH
ST SE

R
CC

T
SE

GGG
RAA

NN
T

WWW
OO

OO

HHI
LLLL

DD
R

S

ZZEMMMAAAAAANNN DDR

228
THH

S

HHIGGLLEYY AAVVE SE

CCC
AA

MM
BURNN

CCC
T

SE

GGRE
ENNN

WW
OOOOODD

DDR SE

4THH
ST

SE NN
OOO

RWW
OOO

OOO
DD

DD
R

SE

HHILLLLCCREST DDR SE

R
SE

11THH AAVVE SE

BEAAAVVVER RIDDGGGE CCT SE

SOOO
UT

TE
R

WW
ELL

LLINN
GGG

TOO
NN

ST
SE

BE

2200THH
ST

225
THH

DDDAAALLLEWWWOOOOOODDD AAAVVVE SE1999
THH

ST
SE

8THH
AAAAAVVE SE

15
THH

2221ST
STT

SE

225THH
ST

SE

3366

VVVINNNE AAAVVVE SE

O
RE

ST
DDD

R

8THHH AAAAAAVVVE SE

2266
THH

STT
SE

22666
THH

HHHIGGLLLEYYY AAAVVVE SE

I0 0.15 0.3 0.45 0.60.075
Miles

199 E

HHENNDDDERSONN

SE

HHILLHHAAVVENN CCT SE
ONN AAVVVE SE

HHILLLLHHAAVVEN

VVERNNNOONNN RDD SEMMMT

SE

3R
DDD

STT
SE

2244 STT
SE

R
SE

URBAN HIGH INTENSITY

OPEN SPACE

URBAN MEDIUM INTENSITY RURALPUBLIC / SEMI-PUBLIC

COMMERCIAL

URBAN LOW INTENSITY URBAN LARGE LOT

COMMERCIAL / MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT FOCUS AREA
E SE

EAA
LLE

R
CCC

T S
E

ST
SE

100THH
ST SE

E

COMMERCIAL / MIXED USE DEVELOPMENT FOCUS AREA MULTI-FAMILY DEVELOPMENT FOCUS AREA

U-MI

A

A B

B

Figure 27: Future Land Use Conceptual Diagram

Figure 28: Conceptual Master Plan for Commercial/Mixed Use Development Area (A) Figure 29: Conceptual Master Plan for Multi-family Development Focus Area (B)

2.04 CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN (LAND USE)



MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA

2.05 CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN (CHARACTER)
CHARACTER OVERVIEW

The Mt. Vernon Road Corridor, like many commercial corridors in the United States, is a physical representation of 
growth spanning nearly two and a half centuries of American history. It is simultaneously a celebration of one of the 
earliest transcontinental highway systems and of residential and commercial growth over time. It is both urban and 
rural. It is a thoroughfare and neighborhood connector. 

The complexion of the road changes significantly from one end to the other. On the western end of the corridor, 
the road is decidedly urban in character, its beginning marking a transition from the urban core to residential 
neighborhood. The east end of the corridor is decidedly rural by contrast. A clear reflection of the corridors past as 
a highway. In between, the corridor is a mix of residential and commercial land uses in various states of prosperity. 

Mt. Vernon Road connects local residents to their work in downtown Cedar Rapids but it is also a major industrial 
transportation corridor connecting grain processing companies to their rural supply chain. This contrasting use adds 
diversity to the district, but also creates challenges.

Throughout this planning process there has been much discussion with the public about the aesthetic character 
of the corridor. At present, it lacks the finish and luster of new, more thoughtfully developed and controlled areas 
of town. It is not homogenized in either its architectural style or streetscape character nor would one expect it to 
be, given the development time frame. It is very much a reflection of its time evidenced by historic homes close to 
downtown, transitioning to post-WWII builder homes along its “middle” stretch finally transitioning to commercial 
development near the east end of the study area. 

The “character” of this development pattern is difficult to define and that is, perhaps, the greatest challenge of this 
plan. Homes and businesses deteriorate over time with lack of maintenance and upkeep and are eventually replaced 
by new construction utilizing building technologies of the time. Along a corridor like Mt. Vernon Road, this results in a 
visual cacophony of architectural styles and scale. Not only is it difficult to describe this character it is difficult to stitch 
it together with modern planning and design without losing some of the variety that makes it unique and interesting.

The primary goal of any aesthetic or character improvement in an area with the chronological development pattern 
of Mt. Vernon Road is unification. It is desirable to introduce elements, materials and places along the corridor that 
serve to unify existing entities while also guiding future development in a way that mitigates (to some degree) the 
existing idiosyncrasy. 

Public input has been integral to this planning process. Streetscape character and aesthetics have been a popular 
topic of discussion and has yielded numerous excellent ideas for improving the Mt. Vernon Road experience. 

The following goals were created based upon the public input received during the development of the Mt. 
Vernon Road Corridor Action Plan.

• Improved the aesthetic appeal of the corridor
• Celebrate the historical significance of the corridor
• Reduce visual clutter along the corridor

SUMMARIZED PUBLIC INPUT

GOALS

ACTION ITEMS

Provide a unique sense of place through streetscapes, 
gateways, and signage.

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

DOT VOTING

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

Identify future funding resources for enhanced 
maintenance and joint marketing opportunities such as a 
Self-Supporting Municipal Improvement District (SSMID).

Incorporate unifying plant materials throughout the Mt. 
Vernon Corridor.

Include Lincoln Highway identity as part of aesthetic 
improvements.

Provide educational signage and/or landmarks at 
historical sites along the corridor. 

Identify established neighborhoods and provide signage 
to celebrate these neighborhoods. 

When possible, bury overhead feeder lines and remove 
timber poles. 

Reduce the quantity and size of commercial signage 
along Mt. Vernon Road. Consider eliminating pole signs 
as a sign option. 

Plant additional street trees to unify appearance of Mt. 
Vernon Road where possible. 

Evaluate the need for regular sidewalk and crosswalk 
inspection process and maintenance plan. 

• Improve aesthetics

• Unattractive area

• Visible utilities

• Improve property maintenance

• Need district signage

• Build on Historic Lincoln Highway

• No cohesive architectural style or design

• Lack of character

• Losing sense of place

• Improve the aesthetic appeal of the     
 corridor.

•
 corridor.

• Reduce visual clutter along the corridor. 

35

5

6

17

54

6

8

31

17

23

Figure 30: Character Voting Summary

Action Item Timeframe

When possible, bury overhead feeder lines and remove timber poles as part of current projects 

including Paving for Progress projects.

2 to 3 Years

Explore and draft policy for the undergrounding of utilities as part of future projects and franchise 

agreements.

2 to 3 Years

Provide a unique sense of place through streetscapes and unifying elements 4 to 5 Years

Implement a streetscape master plan. Within 1 Year

Reduce the quantity and size of commercial signage along Mt. Vernon Road.  Consider 

eliminating pole signs as a sign option.

Within 1 Year

Evaluate the need for regular sidewalk and crosswalk inspection process and maintenance plan. 2 to 3 Years

Include Lincoln Highway identity as part of aesthetic improvements included in a streetscape 

master plan.

2 to 3 Years

Plant additional street trees to unify appearance of Mt. Vernon Road where possible. Beyond 5 Years

Identify establisthed neighborhoods and provide signage to celebrate these neighborhoods 2 to 3 Years
Incorporate unifying plant materials throughout the Mt. Vernon Corridor. 4 to 5 Years

Provide educational signage and/or landmarks at historical sites along the corridor. 2 to 3 Years

Identify future funding resources for enhanced maintenance and join marketing opportunities such 

as Self-Supporting Municipal Improvement District (SSMID).

2 to 3 Years

The following table shows the anticipated schedule for when efforts will be intitiated on each action item.



CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN

CHARACTER ACTION ITEMS

From the goals listed above, the following action items were developed and prioritized by the community 
during the September 12, 2016 public open house.  See Figure 30 above for voting results from that meeting.
As part of a broader discussion throughout the project and at the open houses, additional character 
recommendations and insight for the corridor were developed beyond the 10 action items listed and are 
incorporated below.  

1. When possible, bury overhead feeder lines and remove timber poles as part of current 
projects including Paving for Progress projects. 

Architectural style and building type alone are not responsible for the chaotic appearance of the Mt. Vernon 
Road corridor. Within the study area, public and private utility structures are a major contributor to the visual 
clutter that, if absent, would dramatically change the feel of the roadway. It may not be feasible for many reasons, 
not the least of which is cost, to remove, relocate or bury the overhead utility lines that parallel the road along its 
southern edge. We must accept that the overhead utilities may remain in place for the foreseeable future. 

It is, however, the planning team’s recommendation that all overhead electrical transmission and distribution 
lines be removed, relocated or buried when it is feasible to do so. This will, more than any other aesthetic 
enhancement, alter the character of the roadway for the better. 

This action item was modified after the third open house into two phases in order to address overhead utilities.  
This action item addresses planned improvement projects.

2. Explore and draft policy for the undergrounding of utilities as a part of future projects and 
franchise agreements. 

As noted in the previous action item, the original action item regarding overhead utilities was split into two.  While the 
first action item addresses currently planned improvement projects, there is a need to look at this issue from a regulatory 
standpoint.  To achieve this, the City will explore ways to require undergrounding utilities through city codes, policies, or 
franchise agreements.

3. Provide a unique sense of place through streetscapes and unifying elements  

Planning is an important mechanism when working to make cohesive physical improvements across a diverse 
mix of existing architectural and development patterns. This corridor action plan lays the ground work for several 
subsidiary planning efforts that, when complete, will do the difficult work of guiding redevelopment in a clear, 
concise and meaningful way. 

 o Form-Based Zone Districts established through ReZone Cedar Rapids will help the standards for development 
within a specific area of the city. Form-based zone districts on Mt. Vernon Road would address basic site 
design requirements for new residential, mixed—use and commercial construction. These requirements 
may also apply for major renovation projects. Form-based zone districts will further define streetscape and 
site standards that address drive, building and parking placement, screening, signage, lighting, and plant 
materials. Form-based zone districts can aid in the detailed design of projects to ensure compatibility with 
the surrounding area. Without such guidance, development may occur haphazardly and results in a physical 
realm that lacks the appropriate scale, character and amenities that make for great places. 

 o Incorporate unifying elements
 – Within and adjacent to any public right-of-way (ROW) there are any number of elements that contribute 

to (or detract from) the roadway’s function, safety, efficiency, and aesthetic appeal. The attention one 
pays to these elements will change depending on how they are using the road. Pedestrians have very 
different needs than motorists; through-travelers have very different needs (and experiences) than 
destination seekers whether they are operating a motor vehicle, utilizing public transportation, riding a 
bike or walking. Regardless of the mode of transport, the common elements that affect one’s experience 
are similar and can be categorized very generally into two categories. Vertical elements are those which 
protrude from the ground and have the potential to obstruct views and/or alter paths of travel and 
included everything from trees, to light poles, to signs, traffic signals, and street furnishings. Horizontal 
elements are those that affect and guide one’s path (and mode) of travel and include pavements, ground 
covers (grasses, mulch beds, etc.) and bodies of water. Topography, regardless of whether it is paved or 
landscaped, may alter the path of travel.

 – Where many competing architectural styles and scales exist along a roadway we must look to those 
common elements for unification. Linear spaces, like roadways, are defined by the buildings on either 
side and accentuated by the elements and materials in between. Repeating elements within a corridor 
that are consistent in type, style, color, and height serve to reinforce that the space is special or unique 
or, at the very least, that it is well considered. Along Mt. Vernon Road, introducing a standard roadway 
and a standard pedestrian light fixture is one way to create a unified look. 

 – Many of the properties, both residential and commercial, along Mt. Vernon Road sit higher than the 
roadway itself and utilize a steep slope or retaining wall to mitigate grade change between the building 
and the street. Regardless of which is utilized it is most common for the wall or slope to be situated 
immediately adjacent to the public sidewalk to preserve as much “flat” ground as possible closer to the 
building. Though this is most common along the predominantly residential stretches of the road, there 
are a few areas within the commercial sectors that employ the same approach. Introducing a common 
material for all the retaining walls is an improvement that would have a dramatic effect on the overall 
aesthetic character of the corridor. Where a steep slope affects the grade change a wall should be 
constructed in its place. In addition to using a common material, all walls should be constructed to a 
minimum height to insure a consistent visual appearance is achieved. 

2.05 CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN (CHARACTER)



MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA

2.05 CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN (CHARACTER)
 – In commercial areas where no grade change device is needed and parking abuts the property line, a 

similar wall type should be constructed to partially screen parking areas from view of passing motorists. 
The net effect will be a reduction of visual clutter and a reinforcement of the common aesthetic elements 
in both the residential and commercial corridor’ss.

 – Markers and gateways at key locations along the corridor would serve to both identify the corridor 
as special place and reinforce the brand or identity defined during a branding study. Though not as 
common or repetitious as other potential unifying elements, markers and gateways are strong symbols 
and important wayfinding elements. See Figure 31 for gateway and marker precedent images.

 o Standardize Facilities
 – Transportation corridors are, fundamentally, linear experiences connecting two or more points. Motorists, 

for better or worse, desire (demand) an experience that is short in both duration and length and devoid of 
conflict. Pedestrians desire the same. When forced into the same space, it is nearly impossible to avoid 
some conflict between the two. The goal then becomes, conflict minimization. One way to achieve the 
goal is to standardize and identify facilities in a way that clearly indicates which user has the right-of-way. 
Signage is the most common device employed to do this but other devices can be used to reinforce or 
prioritize one user experience over another. 

 – One common area where this is done is at roadway intersections. Here, pedestrians and motorists 
are most likely to experience conflict as pedestrians are crossing the roadway. Introducing circulation 
patterns and materials that clearly identify their purpose is important to setting expectations for safe 
passage regardless of the mode of transportation.

 – Installing brick pavers at high traffic cross-walks is one improvement that is commonly used in urban 
areas. The texture and color difference between the crosswalk and the travel lane is a visual cue to let 
the motorist know that they are in an area that is different while reinforcing that the crosswalk is a “safe-
space” for the pedestrian within the roadway. Shortening the distance from one side of the street to 
the other further increases pedestrian safety. Doing this consistently along a corridor will let motorists 
know that pedestrians have not been forgotten but will typically result in heightened awareness of their 
presence which results in slower traffic speeds and fewer motorist/pedestrian accidents. 

 – Expanding on the idea of paving crosswalks with brick, paving whole intersections in brick or a similar 
material is not only attractive but has the net effect of slowing traffic speed through the entire intersection 
through increased awareness of other motorists, cyclists and pedestrians. 

 – Crosswalks and intersections are components that contribute to slower traffic speeds along the corridor 
but they do not work by themselves. The most effective approaches incorporate many other standardized 
elements including plant material, lighting and light poles, bus stops, and other street furnishings. These 
elements, when thoughtfully designed and appropriately placed within and along the corridor provide 
much needed facilities, improve the overall look and character, and most importantly, increase safety and 
comfort for all. 

4. Implement a Streetscape Master Plan

A Streetscape Master Plan is one such subsidiary effort that will take the big ideas generated by this plan and 
give them purchase in the physical realm. Its purpose is to define the actual streetscape improvements that can 
be made along the corridor. Products, materials and details will be identified and reviewed for appropriateness at 
the same time as their actual location will be defined. This Streetscape Master Plan would differ from the corridor 
action plan by applying the recommendations to a scaled conceptual Streetscape plan for the corridor.  It would 
allow planning, decision making and conceptual design to occur ahead of time for many of the roadway elements 
to ensure a uniform and cohesive aesthetic for the long-range vision. This document would conceptually address 
and locate not only engineering features such as turning lanes, medians and access points, but also aesthetic 
and character building features such walks and gateway treatments, landscaped medians, ground plane 
materials, walls, parking lot screening, bus stop treatments and landscaped areas. In addition to locating the 
various elements along the corridor this plan would provide a “Kit of Parts” containing recommended elements 
such as materials for pavement, walls, branding efforts, signage and gateway styles, architectural screening 
and specific site amenities such as benches and pedestrian lighting to be used along the corridor. Because the 
minimum right-of-way will be acquired over time through the redevelopment process and the full vision of the 
corridor will take many years, it is recommended the City consider establishing a well-planned and engineered 
graphic Streetscape Master Plan prior to phased implementation of corridor improvements.  This Streetscape 
Plan could be reviewed and updated periodically.  Once complete, the City will possess a guide for phased 
reconstruction that can be shared with multiple consultants to ensure that detailed design for each phase of the 
work is consistent with the next and, most importantly, the overall vision of the corridor. 

5. Reduce the quantity and size of commercial signage along Mt. Vernon Road.  Consider  
eliminating pole signs as a sign option. 

 o Study the City’s sign ordinance as part of ReZone Cedar Rapids.
 – Signage, especially commercial/business signage is a significant contributor to (or detractor from) the 

character of any neighborhood or commercial corridor’s. Signage standards have long been employed 
by municipalities to balance the competing interests of business clamoring for attention with those 
of neighborhood residents who wish to reduce the clutter and confusion that results when signs are 
frequent and overwhelming in size. More and more, cities have found that reducing the allowable sign 
size while at the same time regulating the materials that can be used in their construction makes for nicer 
streetscapes without adversely affecting local businesses. 

 – In new, suburban, development and in progressive cities is very common to see business signage limited 
to ground-mounted monument signs built of high-quality materials like brick and stone. 

 – Along Mt. Vernon Road it is easy to imagine that a similar treatment would significantly improve the 
character of the corridor’s. While this cannot be applied retroactively, it is possible to make changes to 
the City’s Sign Ordinance that would restrict size, placement and material for any new business signage. 
Over time, as redevelopment occurs, existing signs could be replaced with compliant ground-mounted 
signage that would dramatically improve the overall aesthetic of Mt. Vernon Road.



CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN

2.05 CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN (CHARACTER)
6. Evaluate the need for regular sidewalk and crosswalk inspection process and maintenance 

plan.

Developing and maintaining a consistent width sidewalk along both sides of the street is a way to create a unified 
pedestrian experience. Using a higher quality paving material in select places along the roadway and even 
following a regular sidewalk and crosswalk inspection and maintenance plan are ways to elevate the pedestrian 
experience and should be considered.
Repaving and restriping the roadway would go a long way towards improving both the look and feel of the 
corridor. Installing traffic signals and signage that use similarly (identically) colored poles will help to unify the 
aesthetics from one end of the corridor to the other. Adding banner signs and decorative elements to common 
lighting elements with further contribute to the aesthetic enhancement. 

7. Include Lincoln Highway identity as part of aesthetic improvements in a Streetscape Master 
Plan.

 o Consider a branding study to determine an appropriate brand for the Mt. Vernon Road Corridor.
 – Mt. Vernon Road, as discussed previously, was a part of one of the United States’ first transcontinental 

highway systems. Mt. Vernon Road was technically added to the Lincoln Highway system in the 
Highway’s third generation realignment effectively routing transcontinental and cross-state traffic away 
from Marion to the north. While not part of the original roadway, elements along Mt. Vernon Road bear 
the Lincoln Highway markings and brand. 

 – Throughout Iowa, the Lincoln Highway is a source of pride that has been preserved and celebrated to 
varying degrees. This is something that hasn’t been explored along Mt. Vernon Road and could be. A 
Branding Study would look at the corridor’s history and current character as means of uncovering a 
potential new identity for this area of town. Developing and reinforcing this identity will help to establish 
Mt. Vernon Road as a unique place in Cedar Rapids that is a source of pride for local residents while also 
encouraging growth from private development interests.

8. Plant additional street trees to unify appearance of Mt. Vernon Road where possible.

Additional street trees would provide a unifying element across the various street conditions and land uses and  
soften the look of the corridor.

9. Identify established neighborhoods and provide signage to celebrate these neighborhoods.

In the same way that improvements in the commercial signage impact the corridor, quality signage identifying 
established neighborhood can enhance the corridor and celebrate neighborhood character and history giving 
the corridor a unique sense of place.

10. Incorporate unifying plant materials throughout the Mt. Vernon Corridor.

Introducing common plant materials on either side of or within the right-of-way is another way to improve the 
aesthetics of any transportation corridor. In new roadway design and construction, common plantings are one 
of the least expensive but most effective aesthetic enhancements. Given the constraints in width of the available 
ROW it does not seem likely that a replanting approach except for an occasional center median, will be feasible 
along Mt. Vernon Road.

11. Provide educational signage and/or landmarks at historical sites along the corridor.

Corridor character can be bolstered through signage that identifies important landmarks, gateways and historical 
sites along the corridor.  This is best accomplished as part of a branding effort that ties the character of site 
elements and style of signage together for the entire corridor’s. Reinforcing character and brand in this way 
contributes to a unique sense of place.

12. Identify future funding resources for enhanced maintenence and joint marketing   
opportunities such as Self-Supporting Municipal Improvement Corridor’s (SSMID).

Corridor enhancesments such as recommended for the Mt. Vernon Road Corridor require funding for planning, 
implementation, and maintenance. Tools such as SSMID can aid in providing those needed sources of income 
and provide resources that can pertetuate success of the corridor and should be explored as part of this effort. 
A SSMID is a defined area, or district, where property owners have agreed to an additional tax to be used for 
funding improvements or additional services.

ADDITIONAL CHARACTER COMMENTS

Continue to evaluate and work on managing odor generated by the Water Pollution   
Control facility.

Public survey responses relayed numerous complaints regarding the foul odor that is occasionally evident in 
portions of the corridor – particularly the east end.  This part of the corridor is in closer proximity to the Water 
Pollution Control (WPC) facility, which is the City’s sewer treatment facility that provides this service to not only 
Cedar Rapids but also the cities of Robins, Hiawatha, Marion, and parts of Linn County.

The City is sympathetic to odor concerns and continually strives to reduce odorous air emitted from WPC.  With 
the goal of minimizing odors, the City began a two-year long project to build two new bio towers in addition to 
rehabbing two existing bio scrubbers.  This project will provide additional ways to manage odor at the facility; 
however, even after these improvements, certain meteorological conditions may still generate noticeable odors.



MT. VERNON ROAD CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS, IOWA

Figure 31: Character Gateway Plan and Precedent Imagery
Intersection Signage Location Gateway Signage Location

Site Furnishings

Bus Shelter

Gateway Signage

Stacked Stone Wall Facade

Landscaping at Center Median

Branding Signage

Site Furnishings

Special Paving at Selected Areas

Gateway Signage

Form Liner Wall FacadeStacked Stone Wall Facade Segmental Retaining Wall

Landscaping at Center Median

Branding at Center Median

2.05 CORRIDOR ACTION PLAN (CHARACTER)


	Sheets

